COMMENTS AND OBSERVATIONS
1.
The year-end balance of Receivables- Trade amounting to P7,565,803,223 representing 52% of QUEDANCOR’s total assets,  is inaccurate because of unreliable data capture due to deficiencies noted in the accounting system, resulting to, among others, unrecorded receivables of P747,873,418.

QUEDANCOR Circular No. 278 dated April 29, 2005, the Implementing Guidelines on General Accounting System, provides the following, among others:

“6.12 Posting to books of Final Entry

6.12.1 Summaries of totals in the journals shall be posted to the respective accounts in the GL/SL at the end of the month.  No entry shall be made in the ledger unless said entry originate from these journals.

6.12.2 Subsidiary ledger containing the details or breakdown of controlling accounts shall tally/reconcile with their respective GL at the end of the month.

6.13 Financial Reports

6.13.1 The final stage of the accounting process is the preparation of the trial balance and financial statements.  This shall be prepared to provide management with the means of interpreting the Corporation’s financial condition and the results of operations.

6.13.2 The financial reports shall be prepared by the Accounting and Budget Department/Regional Office/District Office as follows:

a. Trial Balance

All accountants/bookkeepers must maintain an audit trail where all transactions in the trial balance can readily be traced from the original documents through the books of accounts to the financial report.”
Moreover, Section 73 (a), Volume I of the Manual on the NGAS – National as circularized under COA Circular No. 2002-002 provides as follows:

“X x x.  Financial reports shall be based on official records maintained under an adequate accounting system that produces information objectively and discloses the financial aspects of all events or transactions taking place.  Where financial data or reports based on sources other than the accounting system are presented, their basis shall be clearly explained.”
At present the operations of QUEDANCOR are fully decentralized to its sixty- three (63) district offices, the results of which are summarized and reported on by the QUEDANCOR Accounting and Budget Division (ABD), Central Office through consolidated financial statements/reports. The financial reports from district offices are submitted and consolidated in the fourteen (14) regional offices which submit their consolidated output to the ABD for preparation of the final consolidated financial statements. The accounting system is computerized on a “stand alone” basis at the Central Office while it is being done manually/partially electronic in the regional and district offices.

Verification disclosed that the aforementioned guidelines were not followed.  There is no audit trail in the district offices.  Daily transactions were encoded in a computer without prior review by the appropriate officer.  District offices have only one accountant who is assisted by one accounting clerk, most of whom are  not occupying regular plantilla item. With the volume of work they have, allegedly they almost neglect the review process.  The next higher officer is the district supervisor who is more concerned with operations.   From the encoded transactions, the district office generates the trial balance which is used as the basis for recording in the general/subsidiary ledgers and other books of accounts at a much later date, at an average delay of three to four months.  Transactions were not reviewed as to its completeness, correctness of entries, and validity before they  are summarized.

The deficiency is best noted in the QUEDANCOR Swine Program (QSP) related transactions, such as:

· Recognition of the receivables account - District offices differ as to when to debit the receivables from borrowers.   Others record receivables on the date of release of  loans to borrowers or on the date of delivery of input supplies, while  others  record the receivables at the time of payment  to input suppliers. 

· Recognition of the payables to Input Suppliers (IS) - District offices also differ as to when to recognize the Payables to IS.  There are district offices which do not establish the payable account.  Upon payment of input supplies, the amount is debited to Payable to IS account, thus, resulting to  a debit balance.  Others recognize the Payable to IS upon payment simultaneous with the recognition of the Receivable account.  Corollarily, no inventory account was  recognized upon acquisition  of input supplies, thus, the amount of deliveries and issuances to borrowers were not properly monitored and accounted. 

· Receivable from the IS account is not recognized upon pull-out of the stocks.

· Automatic offsetting of accounts is allowed under  QUEDANCOR Memorandum Circular No. 343.  Please see detailed discussion in finding no. 3.  

As of December 31, 2005, audit revealed that a total of P1,666,214,621 in loans have been released under the QSP while computation using data from the consolidated trial balance showed that only P918,341,203 were released and recorded during the year.  It appears, therefore, that there is an unrecorded Receivables-QSP representing loan releases of P747,873,418 which is the result of the foregoing deficiencies, arrived at as follows:

Receivables-Swine as of 12/31/05                   P626,841,363

Add: Collections/Credits during the year            440,221,422
Total Receivables                                            1,067,062,785

Less: Receivables-Swine 12.31.04                     148,721,582

Total releases for the year per books                  918,341,203

Total releases per audit (Schedule A)              1,666,214,621
Unrecorded Receivables                               P   747,873,418

==============================================

Correspondingly, interest and service/other income from the unrecorded Receivables QSP may likewise not have been recognized in the books.

Likewise, total credits per audit of P728,582,220 showed a difference of P288,360,798 compared to total credits per books of P440,221,422. The amount of P728,582,220 consists of repayments from the IS for the accounts of the borrowers in the amount of P64,815,262 and through offsetting in the amount of P663,766,958. 

The Receivable-Swine which posted an increase of 321% in 2005 represents eight percent (8%) of the total outstanding Receivables-Trade balance consisting of  ninety (90) accounts/programs. It is second to the Income Augmentation Loan (IAL), the  highest loan balance for the year.   Considering that the deficiencies noted in the accounting of the  QSP have affected the system on a   nationwide scale, it is found to have  materially affected the fair presentation of  the Receivables-Trade account.

In addition, the following deficiencies were noted in the Agency’s accounting system which also adversely affected the reliability of the account balances, to wit:

· Existence of floating items affecting inter-office accounts which are covered by temporary entries prepared to temporarily reconcile the HOCA and DOCA accounts.  This is an indication that not all transactions were completely and accurately captured during the accounting period to which they relate.  The HOCA and DOCA accounts continuously increased through the years.  As of December 31, 2005, the amount of P90,523,815 had been adjusted through temporary entries.
· The balance per book of the account Rediscounting Venture showed a net difference of P50.994 million per records of the Accounts Payable Management Division (APMD) due to the failure of management to effect/adjust reconciling items affecting the account.

· Delayed submission of Monthly Schedule of Receivables-Trade to the Corporate Receivables and Payables Department (CRPD), Central Office.  The Schedule reflects the borrowers’ subsidiary ledger balances in the district offices which are captured by the CRPD for updating and consolidation in support of the Central Office balance sheet total of Receivables-Trade.  However, data being submitted are not complete and updated.  Movement of receivables is  not properly monitored at the district office level, thus, receivables are not classified as to its current, non-current, past due, in litigation, restructured, rescheduled, assigned, etc.  As of report date, reconciliation of the CRPD subsidiary ledger balances with the ABD balance and the subsidiary ledger balances at the District level is not yet complete. 

· General Ledger and subsidiary ledgers are not maintained properly in the District Offices.  As mentioned earlier, trial balance is prepared from the computer-generated list of transactions, ahead of the postings in the general/subsidiary ledgers.

-          Poor internal controls in the District Offices, such as:

· Absence of password in accessing the data files stored in the computer.  Anybody can access and may alter the existing data, particularly the borrowers’ accounts. Accordingly, folders of borrowers were not adequately secured/kept in the District Offices.  No back-up files are maintained.

· Payment Referral Slips were not prepared/reviewed  upon collection as basis in preparing official receipts, thus, credits to borrower’s subsidiary ledger may be inaccurate.

· Aging of accounts is done only once a year.

· Moreover, it was observed that the total Receivables – Trade was presented under Current Assets in the Balance Sheet, while it is broken down into its current, non-current and past due components in the Notes to Financial Statements for Trade Receivables.  The corresponding schedules required under paragraph 6.12.2 of QUEDANCOR Circular No. 278 mentioned above were submitted, however, no list of individual borrowers supports the schedule.

We recommend that the financial and accounting aspects of the operations at the District Offices be extensively supervised by the concerned officers of the Finance Management Cluster.  They should, among others, see to it that: 

-  the financial transactions/events  of the Corporation are completely and    accurately  captured in the financial reports coming from the District Offices; 

· transactions are reviewed, analyzed, recorded, summarized, classified and reported on in conformity with the generally accepted state accounting principles and standards; and 

· program and accounting guidelines are promptly disseminated, clearly explained and uniformly applied to enhance the integrity of the financial statements.

Likewise, the District Accountants, should strictly comply with the provision of paragraph (2) Section 111 of PD 1445 which states that:

“The highest standards of honesty, objectivity and consistency shall be observed in the keeping of accounts to safeguard against inaccurate or misleading information.”

Otherwise, necessary action should be taken against those who may be found remiss in the discharge of their duties.

The management was also requested during the exit conference to submit on or before June 30, 2006, the complete information/schedules to support the December 31, 2005 balance of Trade Receivables per region and as consolidated, to COA-QUEDANCOR Regional Office and Central Office, respectively, and to submit to COA-QUEDANCOR Central Office schedules pertaining to Receivable-Swine on a per region, per district office and per Input Supplier basis. However, this was not complied with.
The Management commented that full operation of the e-NGAS in the Central Office is only awaiting final go signal from COA-GAFMIS.  Thereafter, the system will be replicated immediately for use in the field offices and hopefully the system will cure the noted deficiencies.  They also pointed out that in 2002 they have perceived that the manual accounting system will not sustain the increasing bulk of transactions of the Corporation, however, COA in its Circular No. 2002-003 dated June 20, 2002 advised all government agencies to put on hold individual projects on computerization related to accounting and/or financial management information system.
As regard the bookkeeping in the District Offices, the Management informed that, while daily transactions were encoded in the computer, the District Offices still maintain an audit trail as the basis of the entries are directly taken from the disbursement vouchers, official receipts and other source documents.  The computer generated print out of the data encoded is considered the books of accounts as it does not deviate from the conventional books of accounts, it having the necessary columns normally found in a book of accounts.  Daily transactions are encoded in a computer which is reviewed and checked by the accountant as certified to by him/her in the appropriate portion of the books.

The Management also took notice of the limited staffing of the Accounting and Finance Services Group in the field offices, hence, a composite team from the Accounting and Budget Department was created to go around the field offices for random checking and provide personnel training.

To correct the mistakes in the field offices and for monitoring purposes, the Management claimed that it has come up with the prescribed accounting entries relative to the Swine Program.  A separate list of entries was submitted for the matter.

On the HOCA/DOCA accounts, the Management stated that the net credit balance of P90,523,815 is currently being adjusted and recorded in 2006.

On late reporting to the Corporate Receivables and Payables Department (CRPD), management claimed that an improvement in reporting has been observed compared to 2004.  The problem will be addressed by the implementation of QUEDANCOR Loan Monitoring System (QLMS) and e-NGAS this year.

The Management further commented that the controls in the District Offices is enhanced by instructing them to maintain back-up files,  to print hard copy of any report which should be filed properly, and to keep the folders of borrowers and borrowers index cards in steel cabinets with lock. 

The COA was also informed that there is an on-going reconciliation at the field offices as to the correct recording of Swine program transactions as guided by the prescribed accounting entries.  The CRPD and Internal Audit Office (IAO) are also assisting the activity.  Likewise,  the IAO reviews and correct lapses in the implementation of the accounting system.

As part of our rejoinder, we verified with COA-GAFMIS and found out that certain reports will still have to be submitted by the ABD and the former is the one awaiting the submission of the said reports contrary to the allegation of the AVP-ABD.  

We do not agree with ABD’s contention that the computer print outs may be considered the books of accounts.  It is far from the requirements of the accounting standards and best practices.  We also doubt the results of the alleged implementation of the QLMS and the e-NGAS. This has been mentioned in several replies to our observations regarding QUEDANCOR’s accounting deficiencies.  It must be noted that although, technically, computer based systems will facilitate accounting of transactions, its results largely depends upon the kind of inputs placed in the system.  Likewise,  we pointed out that the review aspect is required not only from the end of the district accountant but throughout the accounting process until the event/transaction is captured in the financial reports.

As regard the alleged on-going reconciliation, correction/adjustment pertaining to the discrepancies noted particularly on the Receivables-Swine accounts, HOCA/DOCA, etc., we insist that management submit the journal vouchers covering the adjustment for our audit.

On the proposed accounting entries to correct the Swine related transactions,  we emphasized that it should consider seriously the following factors: time, cost/valuation, and legal basis for the transaction, and to study further the events and entries before recording the corrections in the books to avoid complexities.

Further, we wish to bring to management’s attention that the transactions to be recorded in its books must be in accordance with the General Accounting Plan (GAP) prescribed under the New Government Accounting System wherein the GAP shows the overall accounting system of a government agency/unit.  It shows the flow of source documents, transactions and its accumulation in the books of accounts and finally the conversion into financial information/data presented in the financial reports.  
2.
The collectibility of the QUEDANCOR Swine Program (QSP) outstanding loan balance totaling  P755,620,000 as of December 31, 2005 per Schedule A, consisting of Due from IS for stocks pulled-out amounting to P167,341,077 and Due from Borrowers for stocks still with the borrowers amounting to P588,278,923, representing forty-five (45%) percent of total loans granted, is  doubtful.

The collectibility of the P755,620,000 outstanding QSP loans as of December 31, 2005 per Schedule A, is doubtful, considering the following:

1. Borrowers’ knowledge and belief that the obligation to pay their loans is assumed by the Input Supplier under the following circumstances as stated in the Contract Growing Agreement (CGA) and/or in the Performance Standards and Other Conditions:

1.1 Upon pull-out by the IS of the swine produced by the borrower by virtue of the “Buy-back” provisions of the Contract Growing Agreement under the Supplier’s Responsibilities, which states that:

“
4.
Buy-back all the produce of the      Borrowers/Growers at the    agreed buying price of  P______;

5.    xxxxxx.

6.
Upon pull-out of the swine produce, pay QUEDANCOR in full, the outstanding loan of the Borrowers/Growers, and the Borrowers/Growers their appropriate guaranteed income.”

1.2 In cases of mismanagement or unsatisfactory management by the borrower as determined by QUEDANCOR, the stocks are pulled-out by the IS; and

1.3 Discontinuance of the project by the borrower without any fault on his/her part after the stated warranty period and he/she returns the stocks to the IS.

2. Failure on the part of the Input Suppliers to fulfill their obligations and reluctance of management to enforce sanctions on non-payment in the absence of a valid credit instrument in support of the Input Suppliers’ liabilities.

3. Difficulty of identifying receivables assumed by the IS and  balances due from the borrowers because of management’s failure to properly monitor and  capture the pull-out transactions, vis-à-vis, the offsetting of accounts, in the QUEDANCOR’s accounting records/books, mainly due to any or all of the following:

-
Absence of accounting guidelines in the implementation of the     Program.

-
Lack of accounting personnel with sufficient    training, not clearly defined duties and responsibilities and status of employment

-
Lack of hands-on supervision from the central office finance       group over district accountants

4. Some borrowers identified during the actual confirmation denied having borrowed from QUEDANCOR.  It turned out that their signatures were sought by the Team Leader/Input Supplier in exchange for a sum of money ranging from P200 to P300 per signature, to be able to obtain the desired amount of loan.

5.   Doubtful contractual financial capacity of the IS.

Considering the foregoing, the recoverability of outstanding loans is deemed remote. There is likelihood that the government will lose from this Program.

We recommend that Management should establish the liability of the IS for the cost of pulled-out stocks.  Accordingly, promissory note must be executed and corresponding collateral must be required from the IS to secure the latter’s obligation.

Corresponding journal vouchers must be drawn to serve as basis for booking-up the liability of the IS.  Records should be reconstructed and adjusted to establish the correct outstanding balance due from the IS and due from the borrowers.

Appropriate action should be taken against erring parties for committing errors in processing the loan documents. 

Management commented that it is misplaced to state that there is no valid credit instrument to enforce the IS obligation upon debt assumption in pull-out.  The primary instrument to enforce the IS obligation is the CGA when the parties signed thereto.  The authority to pull-out constitute a consent from QUEDANCOR as creditor to pull-out the stocks and the actual pulling out of the same gives an authority and basis to QUEDANCOR to transfer the obligation to pay from the borrower to the pulling input supplier.
The management also stated that all the necessary documentation to fully establish the liability of the parties involved are properly secured including the issuance of PDC as form of security for the pull-outs.  Booking of the transactions are currently being reconciled.  Further, they commented that it cannot pursue any action against erring parties on the alleged dummy accounts without the detail of the allegation.

In reply, we required the management to enforce the CGA and collect from the IS and/or farmer-borrowers. 

We also pointed out the effects of the CGA provisions against the farmer-borrowers. It deprives the borrower of his absolute rights to the fruits of his own assets and labor.  As stated above, “X x x.  The authority to pull-out constitute a consent from QUEDANCOR as creditor to pull-out the stocks…”  Why should QUEDANCOR as creditor be the one to give/issue  the  authority to  pull-out when the stocks are owned by the borrowers? 

Further, “…actual pulling out of the same gives an authority and basis to QUEDANCOR to transfer the obligation to pay from the borrower to the pulling input supplier.”   This was not complied with.

As regard management’s statement that all the necessary documentation to fully establish the liability of parties involved are properly secured including the issuance of PDC as form of security for the pull-outs  and that booking of the transactions are currently being reconciled, we also requested management to submit to COA on or before June 30, 2006 complete accounting of the funds utilized for the QSP duly supported with schedules and documents to accurately establish the liabilities/accountabilities of all the parties involved thereto.  And, we also brought to management’s attention that PDC as security may not be effective but problematic, hence, other means should be considered.

3.
Of the total credits to Receivable – Trade - Quedan Swine Program (QSP) of P728,582,220, ninety-one percent (91%) or P663,766,958 is doubtful because it is based on an improper offsetting of accounts.
Offsetting of accounts under the QSP is implemented/effected as follows: 

Basically in offsetting, QUEDANCOR’s Receivables from Input Suppliers representing the amount of stocks-pulled-out from borrowers were offset against Payables to Input Suppliers representing the cost of inputs delivered to the same borrower, other borrower or group of borrowers.  However, the receivables from IS, and for that matter the debtor-creditor relationship between the IS and QUEDANCOR arising from the pull-out of stocks from the borrowers as allowed under the Contract Growing Agreement (CGA), was not established, hence, is not compliant with law which requires, among others,  that for an offsetting to be proper there must be two parties who in their own rights are principal debtors of each other, and that both debts must be due and demandable.  
Such were not the case in QUEDANCOR offsetting. Section 3.9.2 of  QUEDANCOR Memorandum Circular No. 343 dated January 14, 2005 provides that:

 “Automatic offsetting on existing payables and receivables by QUEDANCOR to IS and vice-versa may be allowed by the DOs among the DOs within the RO or among the ROs to be submitted to concerned DO.”
Based on this provision, management implemented offsetting of QSP accounts, as follows:

a)      The borrower applies for loan with QUEDANCOR under the QSP.

a) Upon loan approval, QUEDANCOR issues (District Supervisor as the Issuing Officer) Purchase Order (PO) to the borrower.

b) The borrower presents PO to QUEDANCOR accredited IS for delivery of inputs consisting of gilts/fatteners, feeds, medicines and other biologics.

c) IS delivers the input supplies to borrower.  The value of inputs delivered constitutes the loan, termed as “Loan in-kind” or Non-cash Loan.  The value of delivered inputs likewise constitutes QUEDANCOR’s payable to IS.  However, due to absence of ocular inspection and issuance of corresponding acceptance report and/or alternative monitoring procedure, there is the possibility that there might be no actual deliveries of inputs, only documents were presented for payment.

d) Thus, the borrower becomes the debtor of QUEDANCOR and QUEDANCOR the debtor of the IS.  There is no contractual relationship between the borrower and the IS, but a debtor-creditor relationship between the IS and QUEDANCOR and between the borrower and QUEDANCOR.

e) On the other hand, pursuant to the Buy-back provision as provided in the CGA,  the IS may pull-out the  produce of the borrower upon issuance by QUEDANCOR of Authority to pull-out on maturity date of the parity. The requirement of the CGA is for the IS to pay in full the outstanding loan, equivalent to 50% of the loan per parity, before the pull-out. This was not met, thus, upon pull-out, the IS becomes the debtor of the borrower, but not of QUEDANCOR.  As a matter of fact, no Receivable from the IS account is recognized in the books of QUEDANCORUEDAh ovided under  CGA, vision,er parityto pay in full the outstanding loan ovided in the Contract Growing Agreement is not est.  And that may not be so because of the following:

· There is no legal assumption by the IS of the loan of the borrower.  No promissory note was executed by the IS in favor of QUEDANCOR to absorb the loan of the borrower by virtue of the  pull-out.  

· No accounting entry was taken up in the books of QUEDANCOR recognizing the receivable from the IS since the pull-out is a transaction between the borrower and the IS.  

· After the pull-out and the offsetting, no accounting entry transferring the loan of the borrower to the IS was made.  The borrower still remains the debtor of QUEDANCOR.

Hence, it is viewed that the offsetting of accounts implemented by management is improper.

Further, it is deemed irregular to bind the borrowers under a CGA because he is the owner of the stocks as the same were paid out of the loan proceeds of his loan with QUEDANCOR.  

Furthermore, the events/transactions subject of offsetting (See finding no. 1-QSP related transactions)  were not properly captured in the books which is not in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles as provided in SFAS No. 1 on Pervasive Principles which states in paragraph number 9-Initial Recording, that:

“The principle for initial recording of assets and liabilities is important in financial accounting because it determines (a) the data that enter the accounting process, (b) the time of entry, and (c) generally the amounts at which assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses are recorded.”

The discussion above pertains to accounts of one borrower to another borrower and accounts of different borrowers within the same district office.  But  as provided and implemented under QUEDANCOR Memorandum Circular No. 343, the offsetting scheme extended to accounts of borrowers from different district offices within the same regional office, the  financial effects of which  were not properly captured in the books of accounts. 

Viewed from the foregoing, had there been valid transfer of obligations among the parties and proper accounting thereof, the occurrence of the following deficiencies could have been mitigated:

· Inaccurate balance of due from the IS and from the borrowers to constitute the outstanding Receivable-Swine balance of P755,620,000 as of December 31, 2005 (Schedule A).

· Distorted financial data because there is no way of determining the accuracy of amounts being offset due to lack of accounting records/entries.

We required management to render justification why offsetting of accounts under the QSP should not be considered improper and detrimental to the government and why the concerned QUEDANCOR officials be not held accountable for its results.

According to Management: “Surely the offsetting provision is not too specific as to exclude the rules on offsetting provided by law.  Off-setting or compensation is a mode of extinguishing obligations by operation of law,  dependent on the facts appurtenant to the situation and not on the designation or booking of the transaction.  What is material is the existence of the mutual debtor and creditor relationship and not the accounting treatment applicable to the transaction.”

Again, the management recommended that we consider the above analysis and explanation as justification for the off-setting made.  According to management, proper booking of accounts is currently being undertaken to properly reflect the legal consequence of the relationship of the parties under the CGA.

We stress that accounting of events and transactions related to offsetting under the QSP should not be set aside or given less significance.  Rights and obligations are quantified and given financial meaning through proper use of the tools of accounting.

Further, may we reiterate that in case QUEDANCOR, a government entity, will resort to off-setting of accounts, the presence of a recorded transaction is essential before off-setting may take place, that is, the recognition  of the receivable from the IS resulting from the pull-out of stocks.  The problem is, pull-out is basically a transaction between the borrower and the IS, and not with QUEDANCOR, so, how could there be proper off-setting as alleged without the actual transfer or assumption of obligation of the farmer-borrower by the IS, wherein the latter will now be the debtor of QUEDANCOR?  Mere assertion of undertakings under the CGA is not sufficient.

4.
The procurement of input supplies for the QUEDANCOR Swine Program (QSP) which amounted to P1,666,214,621 during the year, was not made in accordance with the provisions of Republic Act 9184 No. (RA 9184) and its Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR-A).
Verification of appurtenant documents by our auditors revealed that the Input Suppliers (IS) under the QSP were not selected through competitive public bidding as required under Section 10, Article IV, RA 9184-Competetive Bidding which states that:

“All procurement shall be done through competitive bidding, except as provided for in Article XVI of this Act.”

Neither does it fit to any of the exceptions enumerated under Article XVI thereof.

QSP is a program of QUEDANCOR with hog raisers for fatteners and breeders, as its targeted beneficiaries, either as structured Self-Reliant Team (SRT) or as individual borrower.  It is a loan in-kind or a non-cash loan.

In the selection of the participating IS, the QUEDANCOR adopted the following eligibility requirements for Input Suppliers set forth under Section 3.4.2 of QUEDANCOR Circular No. 270 dated March 18, 2004, as amended.  It says, the Input Supplier:

a)  Must be accredited by QUEDANCOR;

b) Must be a supplier for swine inputs (i.e. piglets, feeds, etc.) for at least two (2) years;

c) Must be willing to execute Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with QUEDANCOR and Buy-Back/Trust Receipt Agreement (TRA) with farmer-borrowers, if applicable; and

d) Must be willing to provide technical assistance to farmer-borrowers.

Relative thereto, the IS was accredited by QUEDANCOR upon compliance/ submission of the following:

-       Application for accreditation;

-     
Two 2x 2 recent pictures of the authorized     representative/s;

-
Board Resolution authorizing the entity to participate under the specified program and designating its authorized representative/s thereof with specimen signature;

-
List of key officers and their addresses, if applicable;

-
Certified true copy of SEC Registration (for corporation/partnership) or DTI Registration (for sole proprietorship); and

-
Certified true copy of license from Fertilizers/Pesticides Authority (FPA) for fertilizer supplier/National Seed Board (NSB) or PHILRICE for certified seeds and/or other appropriate government agencies, whichever is applicable.

-       Payment of corresponding accreditation fee.

-      Approval of the accreditation is subject to the level of approving authority under QUEDANCOR Memorandum No. 208 dated February 17, 2004.

Considering the foregoing, in our view, the procurements made by      QUEDANCOR fell short of the eligibility requirements set forth in Section 23.6 of RA 9184, which states that:

“The determination of eligibility shall be based on the submission of the following documents to the BAC, utilizing the forms prepared by the BAC and using the criteria stated in Section 23.11 of this IRR-A:

1. Class “A” Documents-

Legal Documents

a) Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) business name registration or SEC registration or SEC registration certificate, whichever may be appropriate under existing laws of the Philippines;

b) Valid and current Mayor’s permit/municipal license;

c) Taxpayer’s Identification Number;

d) Statement of the prospective bidder that it is not  “blacklisted” or barred from bidding by the Government or any of its agencies, offices, corporations or LGUs, including non-inclusion in the Consolidated Blacklisting Report issued by the GPPB, once released in accordance with the guidelines to be issued by the GPPB as provided in Section 69.4 of this IRR-A;

e) Other appropriate licenses as may be required by the procuring entity 
concerned.” 

Further, Section 23.11 on Eligibility Criteria, states that:

23.11.1 For the procurement of goods:
1. The following manufacturers, suppliers and/or distributors shall be eligible to participate in the bidding for the supply of goods:

a)
Duly licensed
Filipino citizen/sole proprietorships;

b)
Partnerships duly organized under the laws of the 
Philippines and of which at least sixty percent 
(60%) of the outstanding capital stock belongs to 
citizens of the 
Philippines;

c)
Corporations duly organized under the laws of the Philippines, and of which at least sixty percent    (60%) of the outstanding capital stock belongs to citizens of the Philippines;

d)
Manufacturers, suppliers and/or distributors forming 
themselves into a joint venture, i.e. a group of two (2) or more manufacturers, suppliers and/or distributors that intend to be jointly and severally responsible or liable for a particular contract: Provided, however, That Filipino ownership or interest of the joint venture 
concerned shall be at least sixty percent (60%); or

e)
Cooperatives duly registered with the Cooperatives 
Development Authority (CDA).

Technical Documents

f) Statement of the prospective bidder  of  all its ongoing and completed government and private contracts within the relevant period, where applicable, including contracts awarded but not yet started, if any.  The statement shall state for each contract whether said contract is:

f.1. 
On-going, Completed or Awarded but not yet started: within the relevant period, where applicable.  The statement shall include, for each contract, the following:

f.1.1   For the procurement of goods:

(i)
the name of the contract;

(ii)
date of the contract

(iii)
kinds of goods sold 

(iii) amount of contract and value of outstanding contracts;

(iv) date of delivery

(v) end user’s acceptance, if completed; and

(vi) specification whether prospective bidder is a manufacturer, supplier or distributor

Financial Documents

i) The prospective bidder’s audited financial statements, stamped “received” by the BIR or its duly accredited and authorized institutions, for the immediately preceding calendar year, showing, among others, the prospective bidder’s total and current assets and liabilities; and

j) The prospective bidder’s computation for its Net Financial Contracting Capacity (NFCC) which shall be in accordance with Section 23.11 of this IRR-A; or a commitment from a licensed bank to extend to it a credit line if awarded the contract to be bid, or a cash deposit certificate, in an amount not lower than that set by the procuring entity in the Bidding Documents, which shall be at least equal to ten percent (10%) of the approved budget for the contract to bid.”

Furthermore, Section 3 of RA 9184 provides that all procurement of the xxx government-owned and/or controlled corporations xxx, shall in all cases be governed by the following principles:

a) Transparency in the procurement process and in the implementation of the procurement contracts.  X x x 

b) Competitiveness by extending equal opportunity to enable private contracting parties who are eligible and qualified to participate in public bidding. Xxx

c) Streamlined procurement process that will uniformly apply to all government procurement.

d) System of accountability where both the public officials directly or indirectly involved in the procurement process as well as in the implementation of procurement contracts and the private parties that deal with government are, when warranted by circumstances, investigated and held liable for their actions relative thereto.

e)  Public monitoring of the procurement process and the implementation of awarded contracts with the end in view of guaranteeing that these contracts are awarded pursuant to the provisions of this Act and its implementing rules and regulations, and that all these contracts are performed strictly according to specifications.

Moreover, Section 21 of the IRR-A, RA 9184 requires that all invitations to bid for contracts under competitive bidding shall be advertised by the Procuring Entity in such manner and for such length of time as  may be necessary under the circumstances, in order to ensure the widest possible dissemination thereof, x x x. The details and mechanics of implementation shall be provided in the IRR to be promulgated under this Act.  

Further, Sections 21.2, 21.2.1 to 21.2.3 provides as follows: 

21.2. Advertising and Posting of the Invitation to Apply for Eligibility and to Bid (underscoring supplied)

21.2.1.  Except as otherwise provided in Sections 21.2.3 and 21.2.4 of this IRR-A and for the procurement of common-use goods and supplies, the Invitation to Apply for Eligibility and to Bid shall be:

a) Advertised at least twice within a maximum period of fourteen (14) calendar days, with a minimum period of six (6) calendar days in between publications, in a newspaper of general nationwide circulation which has been regularly published for at least two (2) years before the date of issue of the advertisement;

b) Posted continuously in the  website of the procuring entity concerned, if available, the website of the procuring entity’s service provider, if any, as provided in Section 8 of this IRR-A, and the G-EPS during the maximum period of fourteen(14) calendar days stated above; and

c) Posted at any conspicuous place reserved for this purpose in the premises of the procuring entity concerned, as certified by the head of the BAC Secretariat of the procuring entity concerned.

21.2.2. The following periods from the last day of the period for advertising and/or posting of the Invitation to Apply for Eligibility and to Bid up to the opening of bids shall be observed:

(i) For goods, a maximum period of thirty (30) calendar days from the last day of the period of advertising and/or posting of the Invitation to Apply for Eligibility and to Bid up to opening of bids.

(ii)  For infrastructure projects, x x x.

(iii)  For consulting services, x x x.

21.2.3. For contracts to be  bid with an ABC costing two million pesos (P2,000,000.00) and below for the procurement of goods, and five million pesos (P5,000,000.00) and below for the procurement of infrastructure projects, the Invitation to Apply for Eligibility and to Bid shall be posted at least in the website of the procuring entity concerned, if available, the website of the procuring entity’s service provider, if any, as provided in Section 8 of the IRR-A, the G-EPS, and posted at any conspicuous place reserved for this purpose in the premises of the procuring entity concerned, as certified by the head of the BAC Secretariat of the procuring entity concerned, during the same period as above. X x x.    

The absence of public bidding, specifically but not limited to the foregoing eligibility and publication requirements, and principles were not complied with in the procurements made under the QSP resulting to the following deficiencies, among others:

a) Awarding  of POs/contracts to a chosen group of IS

b) Participation of IS who have no financial contracting capacity

c) Participation of IS with no track records

d) Paying in advance portion of alleged deliveries in violation of Section 88 of PD 1445, State Audit Code of the Philippines

e) Improper preparation of Purchase Order/Contract and related delivery/ acknowledgement receipts and acceptance reports

f) Not clearly defined responsibilities of contracting parties resulting to short/non-deliveries on the part of the IS

The management stated in its comment dated May 10, 2006 that it wishes to reiterate what it has indicated in all the COA Regional Audit Memoranda that RA No. 9184 DOES NOT apply to the purchase order system of loan release peculiar to QUEDANCOR programs and adopted in the QUEDANCOR Swine Program (QSP).  The law applies only to procurement by a government entity. Article I, Section 4 and its Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR-A), Rule I Section 4, provide for the scope and application of the law.  It states that the Act shall apply to the Procurement of Infrastructure Projects, Goods and Consulting Services, regardless of source of funds, whether local or foreign by all branches and instrumentalities of the government.  X x x. . . . There is no question that RA No. 9184 applies to procurement by QUEDANCOR as a Government Owned and Controlled Corporation.  However, in the questioned transaction, there is no procurement by a government entity to speak of. X x x. . . .

Moreover, the management explained that procurement, to fall under RA No. 9184, must have a basic effect of transferring the ownership from the seller (IS) to the buyer (QUEDANCOR) actually or constructively.  However, in the QSP scheme, juridical ownership of the goods supplied never passes to QUEDANCOR.  Its role is only to remit the value of these goods for and in behalf of the borrower with the borrower’s money, upon receipt and acceptance by the borrower of such goods, and upon his advice.  The advise of the borrower through his acknowledgment of the delivery receipt creates an obligation for QUEDANCOR as lender to pay the goods delivered through remittance of the loan proceeds to the IS.     

Further, the management stated that the same conclusion was reached by the Office of the Government Corporate Counsel in its Opinion No. 021 dated 03 February 2006, to wit:

“Going to your query on the applicability of the provision of Republic Act No. 9184, said law applies only to procurement of infrastructure projects, goods and consulting services of all instrumentalities of the government (Sec. 4, RA 9184).

“You represent, however, that the role of QUEDANCOR is merely to accredit the suppliers from which the farmers will source their goods.  Thus, it is the farmer who will procure or acquire the goods or inputs from the suppliers of their choice from the list accredited by QUEDANCOR, the payment for which will come from their respective loans from QUEDANCOR.  ​Essentially, therefore, there is no procurement by QUEDANCOR, and on this basis it is our opinion that RA  9184 will not apply.” (emphasis supplied) 

We disagree with the contention of the QUEDANCOR management that there was no procurement by QUEDANCOR. 

In loan-in-kind, the lender must have inventory of goods to lend. Necessarily, it has to procure, in fact QUEDANCOR actually procured P1.6 billion worth of in-puts it lent to the borrowers. The management contradicted itself when it said that the ownership of the goods it supplied (lent thru loan-in-kind) never pass QUEDANCOR since the loan program is a loan-in-kind. 

In the procurement of in-puts it lent to the borrowers, the QUEDANCOR undertook the following : accredited the suppliers; entered into contracts with Input Suppliers using its (QUEDANCOR’S) own Purchase Orders; used and approved the government vouchers, issued checks drawn against the account of QUEDANCOR and recognized in its books the procurement transactions or events. These documents bore the signatures of the QUEDANCOR officials as approving and signing/counter signing authorities.  These, among other things, belie the contention of the management that it did not procure the in-puts it lent to the borrowers.

The opinion of the OGCC was made based on the representations of the QUEDANCOR management which is incomplete compared to the facts stated in the immediately preceding paragraph.  In its own words, the OGCC said that its opinion was based on the representation of the QUEDANCOR that QUEDANCOR’S ROLE was merely to accredit the suppliers.

We, likewise, disagree with the position of the management that its role is merely to remit the borrower’s money to the input suppliers.

It is the view of this Office that for as long as the money are still in the custody of QUEDANCOR and has not yet been received by the borrower, said money is still owned by the government and therefore are subject to laws, rules and regulations applicable to disbursement of public funds, including RA 9184       and its IRR. Moreover, even assuming for the sake of argument, that the funds were held by QUEDANCOR in behalf of the borrowers, disbursement of said funds are still governed by laws, rules and regulations applicable to public funds.  This finds support in Section 63, PD 1445, which provides, thus:

“Except as may otherwise be specifically provided by law or competent authority all moneys and property officially received by a public officer in any capacity or upon any occasion  must be accounted for as government funds and government property. X xx ”

It is noteworthy to mention that given the purpose and intended beneficiaries of the funds, it is imperative that the QUEDANCOR officials should see to it that the interest of the borrowers are amply protected. This can only be made possible by observing the applicable provisions of RA 9184 and its IRR in the procurement of inputs, among other responsibilities of the public officials managing and utilizing government resources and implementing government programs/projects.

Along this line, Section 2, PD 1445, provides:

“It is the declared policy of the state that all resources of the government  shall be managed, expended or utilized in accordance with law and regulations, and safeguarded against loss or wastage through illegal or improper disposition, with a view of ensuring  efficiency, economy and effectiveness in the operations of government. The responsibility to take care that such policy is faithfully adhered to rests directly with the chief or head of the government agency.”(Underscoring ours)

Effectiveness is defined as the quality, quantity , service yield, consumed time, or other attained performance as compared with predetermined standard; Accomplishment of purpose; producing the intended  or expected result. (State Audit Code Phils., Tantuico F. S.)  Obviously, this state policy has not been properly or substantially observed by management.

The foregoing rejoinder is deemed reiterated if the foregoing management comments are hereinafter reiterated elsewhere in this report.

The management further clarified that the participating IS are not selected, they are accredited and are chosen by the borrowers for the IS to be able to participate actively in the program. X x x.  Accreditation only creates a list or a pool of IS that are allowed by QUEDANCOR  to participate in the program.  By accrediting the IS they are not yet selected for procurement, they are only placed in a master list for the farmer-borrower’s future reference.  Based on the program’s design, it is misplaced to compare the eligibility requirements under the procurement law vis-à-vis QUEDANCOR’s requirement on accreditation as these are entirely two different things.  Accreditation does not parallel the selection process in public bidding as outlined in RA 9184 as the process of QUEDANCOR’s accreditation is not for the purpose of procurement of goods.  

Exactly, that is why COA does not recognize the merit, if any, of the QUEDANCOR accreditation process.  In fact, we are strongly questioning its allegation that borrowers were made to choose the IS of their preference out of their List of Accredited IS because it is too absurd to make a choice when there is only one or two IS to choose from, as in the case of Regions VI and VII with an aggregate procurement of P735,754,472 which is further discussed in details in the succeeding paragraphs.  And, that is why we are maintaining our stand that procurements under the QSP should have been made in accordance with RA 9184.

Further, in QUEDANCOR’s letter of 01 June 2006, it asserted, among others, that procurement under the QSP may be compared to the credit card system, citing features of the credit card system and the role of the bank/card issuer which may be likened to the role of QUEDANCOR under the QSP.

Moreover, the management stated in the same letter aforementioned above that the term “loan in kind” was used in the guidelines of the corporation to distinguish this type of system from the old system wherein the cash release was given directly to the farmer-borrower.  However, the use of the term does not literally mean inputs are released to the borrowers.  The PO system is a more complicated procedure as explained in our previous answers than a literal release in kind wherein goods are given to the borrowers as loan.  It may be said that it is just a modified cash release system.     

To this, we replied that whatever system they may call it, the main issue here is, who owns the money at the time of purchase as basis for determining the applicability of RA 9184.  And, if QUEDANCOR adopts such argument that the QSP is just like the credit card system, then it is clear that they own the money which strongly contradicts its earlier comment that it is the borrower’s money.  Accordingly RA 9184 does apply.   In addition, in the credit card system, there is no feature of offsetting or buy-back, and the bank pays only after actual purchases have been made by the borrowers.

In short, notwithstanding the comments of the management, we believe that QUEDANCOR procured the in-puts out of public funds and therefore RA 9184 and its IRR are applicable.

The deficiencies enumerated above are amply discussed as follows:

a) Awarding of POs/contracts to a chosen group of IS.
Management failed to extend equal opportunity to private contracting parties who are eligible and qualified to participate in public bidding. This resulted to monopoly by a group of ISs as revealed from their accreditation documents.  

A certain Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Managing Director of the Metro Livestock, Inc., is also a member of the Board of Directors of the BIRKS Agri-Livestock Corporation and a partner of the New Gold Rock Agri-Vet Company.  His name, and that of a director of BIRKS Corporation, also appear as former directors of the Silver Stock Resources Corporation, who sold their shares of stock to    the wife of the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Silver Stock Resources Corporation. See attached company profiles of the above-mentioned IS (Schedule B).

As of December 31, 2005, QUEDANCOR has procured a total of P1,666,214,621 worth of input supplies under the QSP from the following Input Suppliers:

	Input Supplier
	Amount
	Percent

to Total

	BIRKS Agri-Livestock-  Corporation
	P     583,273,545
	35

	Silver Stock Resources Corp, (SRC)
	480,891,030
	29

	Metro Livestock, Inc.
	382,835,272
	23

	ZAICO
	56,628,000
	3

	R. A. Navarro
	43,530,000
	3

	Farmers Trust
	28,852,090
	2

	Global
	28,191,000
	2

	Multi Grow
	17,370,000
	1

	New Gold-Rock Agri-Vet Company
	11,450,000
	1

	San Lorenzo Feeds
	9,940,000
	

	Benjamin  Albarece
	5,499,590
	

	River Valley Dist.
	3,573,435
	

	Reg. 9 (Name of IS not indicated)
	2,490,821
	

	Quirino Sanchez
	2,385,025
	

	Gensan Viva Enterprise
	1,921,980
	

	DBSN
	1,652,980
	

	Piglandia
	1,440,000
	

	Tacentra Marketing
	1,376,647
	

	Coco-Valley
	785,000
	

	Vol Trading
	780,000
	

	Pacific West Farmers
	600,000
	

	San Jose Shell
	600,000
	

	NTT Agricultural Supplies
	148,206
	

	Total
	P     1 ,666,214,621
	100


Of the total amount, BIRKS, SRC, and Metro Livestock got the biggest slices of 35%, 29% and 23%, respectively.  Including the New Gold Rock, the four ISs acquired 87.53% or P1,458,449,847 of the total procurements. 

Tabulation by regional office below also showed that procurement was concentrated from the three Input Suppliers in the following regions: Silver Stock in Regions I and III; BIRKS in Regions VI, VII and VIII, and Metro Livestock in Regions IV, VI and NCR.

	QUEDANCOR Regional Office
	Amount

	
	

	No. I

Silver Stock Resources Corp. (SRC)

R. A. Navarro
	P   300,356,000

43,530,000

	
	343,886,000

	No. III

Silver Stock Resources Corp. (SRC)

Farmerstrust
	176,155,030                        28,852,090

	
	205,007,120

	No. IV

Metro Livestock, Inc.

Global
	134,806,772

28,191,000

	
	162,997,772

	No. V

Zepeda Agro Ind.

Multi Grow

Goldrock

San Lorenzo Feeds

San Jose Shell
	56,628,000

17,370,000

11,450,000

9,940,000

600,000

	
	95,988,000

	No. VI

BIRKS Agri-Livestock

Metro Livestock
	408,640,992

227,808,500

	
	636,449,492

	No. VII

BIRKS Agri-Livestock
	99,305,000

	No. VIII
BIRKS Agri-Livestock

DBSN

River Valley Dist.

Coco-Valley

Vol Trading
	75,327,553

1,652,980

3,573,435

785,000

780,000

	
	82,118,968

	No.IX Name of IS not indicated
	2,490,821

	No. X

Benjamin Albarece

Pacific West farms

NTT Agr. Supply
	5,499,590

600,000

148,206

	
	6,247,796

	No. XII

Tacentra Marketing
	1,376,647

	Gensan Viva Ent,
	1,921,980

	
	3,298,627

	NCR

Metro Livestock

Silver Stock Resources Corp. (SRC)

Quirino Sanchez

Piglandia
	20,220,000

4,380,000

2,385,025               1,440,000

	
	28,425,025

	Total
	P 1,666,214,621


The management commented on the definition of the word monopoly as earlier used in the AOM.  It also explained that accreditation for Input Suppliers is open to all individuals, corporations, cooperatives and other entities interested.  X x x. QUEDANCOR allows accreditation of any IS to forestall instances of a monopoly.  Accreditation is allowed on a national or regional scope to encourage more participants in QUEDANCOR programs.

Further, the management stated that many of the gilts delivered by the IS were from those listed in the DA accredited Swine Breeder Farms, in compliance with the letter of the then DA Secretary Arthur Yap.  However, it was unfortunate, according to them, that these farms did not apply directly to participate in the program for reasons privy to themselves.

We can always change the word monopoly to a more simple term, but it must be emphasized that what is significant and disturbing to us is the fact that 87% or P1,446,999,847 of the P1,666,214,621 total exposure under the QSP was cornered by the three major IS.  

The management’s assertion that the gilts were sourced from DA accredited Swine Breeder Farms in compliance with the memorandum of the then DA Secretary Arthur Yap finds no trace among the documents that were verified. The non-participation of the DA accredited Swine Breeder Farms and other possible interested parties can be attributable to the absence of public bidding to include the required publication, contrary to the relevant provisions of RA 9184 and its IRR.

Management did not comment on the interlocking officers of the three major ISs.

b) 
Doubtful financial capacity of the IS which caused their failure to sustain the needs of the Program and comply with their contractual obligations.

Records show that the following major ISs have only One Million (P1,000,000) each authorized capital stock and/or  total partners capital.  Of the authorized capital stock, only the following were paid up when they were accredited by QUEDANCOR under its Swine Program, despite which they were granted tremendous amount of POs/contracts.
Paid-up         Date of SEC         Total  Amount

Input Supplier                  Capital          Registration       of POs/Contracts
BIRKS Agri-Lives Corp.          P    62,500       Mar 27, 2003          
  P583,273,545

Silver Stock Resources Corp.     760,000       July  25, 2003                 480,891,030

Metro Livestock, Inc.                     62,500       Aug. 19, 2003                 382,835,272

New Gold Rock Agri-Vet          1,000,000
    Dec. 12, 2002                   11,450,000 

(2partners:  500,000/partner )        

The minimal amount of paid–up capital compared with the huge transactions undertaken by the three Input Suppliers proves that they were not yet in a financial position to perform their contractual obligation.  Likewise, submission of the two-year audited financial statements as eligibility requirement was not possible considering that the dates of SEC Registration of the aforementioned Input Suppliers were only months away from the dates the ISs started transacting business with QUEDANCOR which was in early 2004.  

According to Management, “at the inception of the program accreditation was for the purpose of ensuring that the companies were operational and with required licenses.  The concept of the PO System is that the IS delivers the goods then upon presentment of the delivery receipt and acknowledgment receipt which is the order of the farmer-borrower for the release of the loan, QUEDANCOR remits the loan of the farmer-borrower to the IS”.

This confirms our position that Management should have conducted public bidding with the required eligibilities under RA 9184 and its IRR.  In view of this position of the Management, IS with doubtful contracting capacity were allowed to participate in the Program which may be the main reason for the substantial amount of unpaid balance of receivables, payment in advance and non-delivery of inputs as discussed elsewhere in this report.

c) 
Participation of technically unqualified IS in the Program.

No track records was required from the IS per QSP accreditation process.  Even newly organized suppliers were able to participate in the Program. 

Inquiries from the Bureau of Animal Industry (BAI) disclosed the intensive monitoring being done by the Bureau to improve the breeds of swine in the country in relation to the restocking program of the government.  Thus, its various programs/activities are geared towards enhancing the technical capabilities/know-how of hog raisers and farm breeders in coordination with other government agencies also involve in swine program like QUEDANCOR.  However, verification revealed that the QUEDANCOR accredited ISs were not among those accredited by the BAI under its Swine Breeder Farm Accreditation Program (SBFAP) created under Administrative Order No. 14 series of 2002, as amended, of the  Department of Agriculture, despite the invitation of   the then Secretary of the DA, Arthur C. Yap, in his memorandum dated March 22, 2005 to the President and CEO of QUEDANCOR to involve  the DA-SBFAP accredited breeder farms in various loan programs of the QUEDANCOR.  As per attached list of fourteen (14) SBFAP Accredited Farm Breeders marked as Annex A, none of those accredited by QUEDANCOR is listed. 

The Management asserted that the technical qualification of the IS was proven by the documentation required to be submitted under the program such as BAI licenses and/or DA certification, etc.  However, BAI’s accredited breeder farms did not seek accreditation for the program for reasons only known to them. 

We do not agree on this comment.  None of the QUEDANCOR accredited IS has sufficiently qualified under the BAI Licensing requirements because under their guidelines, before any individual, corporation or any organization can be accredited by BAI, they must qualify and secure license or permit from the following BAI divisions:

a. 
for handlers

b.
for feed mixers

c.
for breeders

d.
for biologics

d) 
Full payment for procured input supplies which were delivered on  staggered basis is tantamount to paying in advance to Input Suppliers (IS) an approximately forty-six percent (46%) of the loan amount in violation of paragraph (1), Section 88 of PD 1445, The State Audit Code of the Philippines.

A strong allegation of Management why they sought the assistance of the IS in the implementation of the Swine Program, is that, it wanted to prevent the borrowers from personally handling the loan proceeds to avoid diversion of its use for other purposes.

But while QUEDANCOR  prevented  the borrowers from managing  their own fund, it appears that they freely allowed the IS the advance use of the portion of the money paid to them by QUEDANCOR, in  violation of Section 88 of PD 1445 which states that:

“Except with the prior approval of the President (Prime Minister) the government shall not be obliged to make an advance payment for services not rendered or for supplies and materials not yet delivered under any contract therefore.  No payment, partial or final, shall be made on any such contract except upon a certification by the head of the agency concerned to the effect that the services or supplies and materials have been rendered or delivered in accordance with the terms of the contract and have been duly inspected and accepted.”

The prohibition on advance payment is well explained in paragraph 4, page 164 of the book entitled A Treatise on Government Contracts Under Philippine Law, which reads as:

“The rationale behind such a prohibition against advance payment is not hard to perceive.  Any person contracting with the Government for the rendition of services or delivery of supplies and materials is presumed to be “logistically” prepared for the purpose.  The assumption is that he has his own resources to rely upon in the performance of his contractual undertaking.  And so, when he asks the Government to pay him in advance under the contract even before he has commenced such performance, it can only mean that he is not as yet in a financial position to perform his contract.  In effect, by making such advance payment, the Government provides part of the capital for the contractor and, hence, becomes a capitalist of sorts. x x x It is in this context that the subject prohibition is deemed imposed as a matter of administrative measure and for the security of the Government.”

Contrary to the foregoing, QUEDANCOR pays the IS the total amount of alleged deliveries made to the farmer-borrower on the basis of the POs and Authority to Load (ATL) issued by QUEDANCOR.  The IS allegedly delivers the inputs to the borrower, then issues the corresponding Delivery Receipt (DR) covering the total amount of loan per lot per parity.  Borrower signs the “Received the above items in good order and condition” portion of the DR.  However, as gathered from interview and ocular inspection of selected samples, at the time of loading, only the gilts/fatteners and a portion of the feeds and medicine, usually covering one  month consumption, were delivered, but not all.  More so, it is exactly the scheme, per se.  The IS supplies the fattening/breeding, including the technical needs of the sows,  on schedule,  throughout the    eight-month period equivalent to one parity.  The needs of the sows/fatteners differ as they aged, from starter, to grower to finisher, so deliveries should have been made on staggered well administered basis.  And, according to BAI, feeds mixtures are best consumed within a period of one month only, thus, delivery of the whole lot per parity is strictly not advisable. 

Despite these requirements, it was found out that the Disbursement Vouchers covering payments to IS represents  the total amount of loan/cost of inputs,  for the whole parity, hence, there is advance payment pertaining to the undelivered portion which is approximately forty-six (46%) percent, computed  as follows:

Total amount of loan
per lot
     

           P120,000
*Cost upon delivery and full payment to IS:

4 heads of gilts @ P15,000 each                              P  60,000

feeds   (30 days @ 2.5 kg/day @ P15/kg x 4 gilts)         4,500

medicine   ( 7% of feed cost)                                             315

Total 




                       P  64,815 or 54%

=======


Due to lack of records and improper monitoring of the accounts on the part of QUEDANCOR, as well as the borrowers, the exact amount of overpayment cannot be determined but documentary and circumstantial evidences and testimonies from borrowers will prove that advance payments for the cost of feeds and medicines were made to IS in violation of Section 88 of PD 1445.

We recommended that Section 88 of PD 1445 be strictly complied with; to update and/or reconstruct the subsidiary ledgers of the borrowers and the IS and establish/determine the amount   paid in advance to the IS; and recover from the IS the amount of advance payment as of December 31, 2005 and charge them the equivalent cost of money which accrue to them due to advance payments.

The Management commented that disbursements by QUEDANCOR to the Input Supplier is the amount of loan released to the borrower through the issuance of PO.  Its basis is the attachment of the delivery receipt and acknowledgment receipts duly signed by the borrower.  Therefore, the amount released to the borrower through the IS cannot be considered as advance payments as there is no procurement to speak of and PD 1445 speaks particularly of advance payment in services or supplies and materials.  As lender, the obligation of QUEDANCOR after the receipt of the complete documentation is to remit to the IS the amount it has delivered to its borrower for and in behalf of the latter.  Hence, since the fund used is the loan of the borrower, there is no violation of PD 1445.

Management also commented that it has no legal standing to recover the amounts considered by COA as advance payments.  Since these amounts are loan releases to borrowers duly delivered and received by them as indicated in their signed acknowledgment receipts, the borrowers should be the ones to ask for reimbursements in case there has been indeed a shortage in the delivery of inputs.  

The foregoing Management comments confirm our observation that the full amount of the POs were paid in full even though no full actual deliveries were made. We therefore, maintain our stand that there is advance payment in the QSP.  In addition, we are quoting below the portion of Opinion No. 021 Series of 2006 dated February 03, 2006 of the Office of the Government Corporate Counsel on the issue of whether the QSP procurement should be covered by RA 9184, to wit:

“X x x.  QUEDANCOR will advance the payment of these inputs delivered to the farmer-borrowers, the amount of which will be collected from the farmer-borrowers as loans payable to QUEDANCOR.” (underscoring ours)

“X x x.  QUEDANCOR can enhance the credit standing of the farmers-borrowers insofar as the Input Suppliers are concerned since the latter will be assured of payment advanced by QUEDANCOR.”  (underscoring ours)

These validate our above stated audit observations.  Its letter of 07 December 2005 to the Assistant Government Corporate Counsel also confirmed that under the Scheme, Management has to pay the IS in advance.  See paragraph 2 of the attached letter marked as Annex B.

It is unfortunate that at the end of the day, the borrowers, who are the intended beneficiaries of the program, were left to fend for themselves. This finds support in the comments of the management when it said that it has no legal standing to recover the amounts considered by COA as advance payments. Since these amounts are loan releases to borrowers duly delivered and received by them as indicated in their signed acknowledgment receipts, the borrowers, according to the management, should be the ones to ask for reimbursements in case there has been indeed a shortage in the delivery of inputs.  

e) 
Purchase Orders (POs) issued under the QSP did not clearly indicate   significant information prescribed under COA Circular No. 96-010 dated August 15, 1996, thus, the failure to determine whether the procurements made gave the most advantageous terms for the government. 

COA Circular No. 96-010 specifies the basic information which should invariably appear in the PO.  It specifies that existing forms of the purchase order or other contract used by the agencies may be continued, provided that it shall contain all the following data or information: (emphasis ours)

(a) Purchase Order Number

(b) Date of Purchase Order

(c) Complete name of supplier

(d) Complete address of supplier

(e) Information whether the supplier is a manufacturer or exclusive distributor; registered with SEC, DTI or both

(f) Telephone and fax number of supplier, if any

(g) Date of delivery

(h) Complete item name

(i) Complete detailed item specification, including accessories i.e., narrative description xxx

(j) Price (individual unit price; if lot price, any document showing the detailed breakdown of the cost should likewise be submitted)

(k) Unit of measure when it is not universally accepted indicate numbers or weight, or lineal measure; i.e., if stated as per “roll”; if per “box” state number /pcs. Contents; xxx

(l) Quantity or number of units

(m) Brand name.  If no brand, state “none”

(n) Country of manufacture or origin of item; i.e.; local (or RP), or if foreign origin, specify country

(o) Terms; i.e., COD, n/30 days, etc.

(p) Mode of procurement; i.e., public bidding, canvass, negotiated sale, xxx.  If “repeat order” indicate previous Purchase Order and date which was used as basis

(q) Taxes paid by agency; i.e., VAT, etc.  If taxes are paid by supplier, do not indicate”.

Further, for the protection of the government, Heads of agencies, subdivisions, or instrumentalities shall invariably incorporate a penalty clause or provision for liquidated damages in case of late delivery in an amount equivalent to not less than (minimum) one tenth of one (1) percent of the total value of the contract, or if the contract has been partially fulfilled within the stipulated time, the total value of undelivered purchase thereof.  Likewise, a provision on the liability of the supplier or contractor in case of failure to deliver the items called for shall be included in the order or contract”.

The PO designed by QUEDANCOR, which serves as the contract for the delivery of inputs and the eventual payment thereof do not contain the following, among others:

· Important dates which should be clearly indicated in the PO for purposes of determining the accountability of the parties thereto, including computation of liquidated damages in case of late deliveries.  These are: date of the PO; date of acceptance by the Input Supplier;  date of delivery by the Input Supplier ; and  date of acceptance of the deliveries by the farmer-borrower.  

· Complete descriptions and specifications of the supplies (hogs, feeds, medicine, etc.) and all other information and data needed to enable the supplier, agency officials, COA and others concerned to determine the nature and quality of the items purchased.

· Price (individual unit price and/or if lot price, any document showing the detailed breakdown of the cost) 

Instead, the Management made it appear that the procurement was initiated by the farmer-borrower by incorporating provisions and features contrary to the intent of the aforementioned COA Circular.  As a result, deliveries pursuant to the POs were not properly monitored and accounted for, thus presence of late deliveries and non-deliveries were not noticed and given due sanction.

Since the QSP is regarded as a loan-in-kind, it is presumed that Management has the inventory, (and maintaining a corresponding inventory account therefore) be it in the QUEDANCOR’s possession or in outside warehouses  from where to take out the inputs, subject of the  loans, hence procurement must be undertaken in the light of RA 9184.

According to Management, as procurement is not by QUEDANCOR, the borrower is given the discretion on where and whom to procure.  Hence, the above consideration cannot apply.  Nonetheless, whatever infirmity in the description of goods in the PO is cured by the issuance of the Delivery Receipt and Acknowledgment Receipt which reflects the actual goods delivered to the borrower which forms the basis of the amount of loan to be released.  This is strengthened by Management’s policy to allow adjustments/alterations in the PN where the value of actual inputs delivered or services rendered is below the approved PO/JO/CIS.  

Likewise, the Management explained that there can be no inventory to speak of as purchase is done by the farmer-borrower from the IS.  Only the payment is coursed through QUEDANCOR.  In the set-up, the borrower directly takes possession of the stocks.

To this, we countered that if such is in fact the case, the farmer-borrower should have also been given the discretion to use his own money since he is the one indebted to QUEDANCOR and not the IS. However, the borrower has no choice because it is QUEDANCOR that accredits the IS.  Issuance of the DR or AR does not cure the defects of the PO.  On the contrary, verification of the documents and interviews with farmer-borrowers revealed defects in the signing and issuance of the DRs/ARs, one of which is the  one-time issuance of  DR for the whole amount of loan, where in fact, only partial was delivered, and the alleged irregularities in the signing of the documents. Moreover, it is very difficult, if not impossible, to determine, through inspection, whether all items were delivered; were in accordance with specifications, and whether the price paid by the government was reasonable in the absence of properly accomplished P.O.
Further, we emphasized that an inventory account is necessary if the Agency is claiming that it is engaged in a Loan-in-kind Program.

f) 
Input supplies amounting to P47,465,614 were not delivered to the borrowers under the QSP which is tantamount to breach of contract punishable under existing laws. 

As reported by the respective COA-QUEDANCOR Regional Team Leaders, input supplies amounting to P47,465,614, as detailed below, were already paid but  were allegedly not delivered:
Regional                                          Amount of Undelivered

Office            Input Supplier                  Input Supplies

NCR 
         Metro Livestock                      P    4,585,000
No. I
         R. A. Navarro                              12,912,000 
SRC                                              4,860,000

No. III           SRC             725,350

Farmerstrust                                 1,209,264

No. VII            BIRKS                                           3,974,000 No. VIII           BIRKS                                     _  19,200,000
Total           P 47,465,614

===========
In the case of Region 7, it was reported that borrowers confirmed that all gilts were housed in one pig farm located in Dumanjug, 80 kms south of Cebu City, while majority of the borrowers were residents either of Tuburan or Tabuelan which are approximately 100 kms. North of Cebu City.  This was confirmed by the RAVP, Region 7 in his reply to AOM 06-003 dated 01 February 2006 of the COA RTL.  Thus, the conclusion that hogs/piglets were sourced and delivered from one and the same pig farm and that  there was no actual delivery to speak of, only constructive delivery supported with documents signed by borrowers for a minimal fee of P200, is justified.

Same is true in the case of Region VIII where borrowers confirmed that the pigs were housed in one pig farm owned by a certain Tata Servacio.

The Memorandum of Agreement binding the IS and QUEDANCOR stipulates, among others, under the Duties and Responsibilities, that: 

“The IS shall provide QUEDANCOR’s farmer-borrowers the production inputs and/or services as specified in the Purchase Order (PO) for Input of Services (CIS) presented to them; and that x x x

“The Input Supplier shall fully comply with all its obligations and responsibilities provided for in pertinent QUEDANCOR circulars/program considered an integral part of this Agreement, otherwise, the Certificate of Accreditation issued to them shall be considered null and void.”

Verification and ocular inspection revealed that such amount of inputs were not delivered by the respective IS as of year-end despite advance payment made to them.  Likewise, various  borrowers claimed that they were just made to sign documents, even blank documents, the repercussion of which,  were not explained to them in exchange for a sum of money ranging from P200 to  P300 as incentive for signing.

However, since procurement under the QSP were made not in accordance with RA 9184, there is no performance bond or contractor’s surety bond to speak of, where to charge whatever liquidated damages that maybe determined against defaulting IS.  On the contrary, under Memorandum 1374 dated December 14, 2005 dealing on the subject: Conversion of the Existing Gilt to Piglet Production Account to Term Loan and Remedial Measure Under the Swine Program, management  granted the following  courses of action in favor of the IS:

In case of total surrender of gilts or total pull out:

· The Input Supplier will assume the loan obligation and pay QUEDANCOR within a reasonable period of time and shall execute a Promissory Note (PN) with QUEDANCOR supported by a Deed of Assumption of Loan Obligation;

· Apply for remedial measures, e.g., debt restructuring/rescheduling;

· Will be required to issue PDCs and/or REM, if available, and

· Term of loan will be based on the cash flow of the IS.

We recommended that Management require the IS to refund the cost of undelivered input supplies. Impose sanctions as provided by law to erring IS for breach of contract. 

The Management reacted that as RA 9184 is inapplicable in these transactions as explained, the liquidated damages and bond requirement provision of the law does not find application in this instance.  Memorandum 1374 dated December 14, 2005 on conversion of gilt to piglet accounts into term loans are measures to secure the interest of the corporation and at the same time enhance collectibility of the accounts under the program. 

Also, the management stated that any shortage of deliveries is the concern of the borrower as he has acknowledged the receipt of undelivered  goods.  In such instances, the law provides remedies to the borrower on how to recover the undelivered goods.  In due respect to the mutual contract entered into by the now QUEDANCOR borrower and his/her chosen input supplier, we regret to inform that Management believes that QUEDANCOR is not the proper party to run after these Input Suppliers.  The proper parties in this case are the borrower himself and the Input Suppliers.  The proper person who must sue the input suppliers are the borrowers who acknowledged the full delivery of the goods that serves as basis of QUEDANCOR to pay the Input Suppliers. QUEDANCOR is assisting grower-borrowers threshing out this issue with the IS. Assuming there was indeed breach of contract in view of the undelivered inputs, the party aggrieved shall have the right to seek redress from the courts on strength of the contract.  Absent provisions in the CGA for specific breach contemplated, QUEDANCOR does not have the right to impose sanctions as only courts of justice can determine the proper sanctions to impose.

In reply, we commented on the sad plight of the farmer-borrowers, that instead of alleviating their living condition, according to the QUEDANCOR’s mandate, it looks like they will end up heavily indebted and haunted with court cases and resulted in the failure to attain the very objective of the program.

In addition, we also commented that Memorandum 1374, which according to management will correct or solve the problems of the QSP, contains provisions which are deemed vague.  Paragraph 2 thereof says, and we quote:

“Accordingly, Borrowers-Growers may be allowed initial moratorium, while awaiting for the execution of a new Promissory Note (PN) and its subsequent rediscounting with Allied Bank which shall be used to pay-off earlier PNs that were rediscounted with other banks.  Corollarily, an accessory contract shall be executed among the IS, QUEDANCOR and Grower-Borrowers, to conform with the new terms and conditions covering the conversion of existing gilt to piglet production loan to term loan in addition to the issuance of PDCs and Deed of Assumption of Obligation by the IS.” (underscoring ours)

The foregoing memorandum raises more questions than answers.

5. The high cost of credit under the QUEDANCOR Swine Program (QSP) is not supportive of the Agency mandate and is deemed not beneficial to its intended farmer-beneficiaries. 

The mandate of the Agency as reiterated under QUEDANCOR Memorandum Circular No. 270 dated March 19, 2004, Consolidated Guidelines on QUEDANCOR Swine Program, states that:

“QUEDANCOR establishes a credit program to support the swine industry specifically to provide affordable credit for swine raisers on their fattening and breeding activities, and to enable them to provide additional livelihood income to support their basic needs.” 

The intent and purpose of the Program is noble and pro-poor, however, the results of its implementation show otherwise.  Borrowers suffered much in terms of high financial burdens and/or unwanted financial obligations.

Under existing QSP Guidelines, the following costs are charged to the borrowers:

	Cost
	Rate
	Reference

	Interest
	14% p.a. x Principal
	Quedancor Memo. Cir. No. 270 Sec.3.8.1

	Service Fee
	3% of the principal
	-do-

	Gross Receipts Tax (GRT) on Interest
	5% of Interest
	New VAT Law

	GRT on Service Fee
	5% of Service Fee
	                     -do-

	Insurance
	Principal x  .80/1000 per month
	Quedancor Cir. No. 281 S. 2004 

	Docs. Stamps
	Principal x .50/100
	Old NIRC Sec. 174

	Notarial Fee
	P100 per doc. Acknowlegment

  100  per doc. Jurat
	QuedancorCir. No.186s. 2002


Using the above rates, assuming a P120,000 loan consisting of four gilts, the cost of credit  to the borrower is computed as follows:

Interest
    (120,000 x 14%  x  8/12)
               P   11,200

GRT on Interest  (5%  x 11,200)
                                     560

Insurance           (120,000 x .80/1000 x  8)


  768
Docs. Stamps
    (120,000 x .50/100)              
              600
Service Fee
    (120,000 x 3%)


           3,600
GRT on Service Fee
(5%  x  3,600)
                                     180
Notarial Fee (P100 per document, min. of 5 docs.)                500 

Total
       




                P  17,408
========

Assuming further that on maturity date or after a period of eight months for breeders with an average produce of ten piglets or a total of forty (40) heads multiplied by P400 Guaranteed Income per head, the borrower will be paid P16,000 only or a loss of P1,408.  Except for notarial fee, all of the above are variable costs, thus, even if the number of gilts/fatteners increases the cost to the borrower will also invariably increase.  The P17,408 is exclusive of  labor and overhead costs being incurred by the borrower on a monthly basis conservatively estimated as follows:

Labor



P2,000

Depreciation*


     335

Water



     300

Electricity


     200

Transportation                             100

Municipal/Brgy Permits/CTC       300

Pictures


       50
Total
      


P3,285
*Monthly depreciation rate assuming a P100,000 worth of pigpen with an estimated useful life of 25 years computed on a straight line basis.

In addition to high financial charges is a list of problems encountered by the borrowers, such as:

Late/Non-deliveries of feeds and medicines
Untimely/Non-payment of guaranteed income

Late/Non-payment of loan with QUEDANCOR despite pull-out   of stocks

High mortality rate because of poor quality of piglets/gilts
Non-replacement of gilts/fatteners pulled-out/died due to poor quality

Insufficient technical assistance

Fatteners were delivered instead of breeders/Three-way cross instead of
two-way cross for breeders

Lack of assurance on the quality of inputs being delivered

Difficulty of reimbursing the amount advanced by borrowers for the purchase of feeds/medicine when deliveries are late

Non-release of collateral despite full payment on account of total pull-out by the IS

Fear of losing collateral in foreclosure proceeding due to non-payment by 
the IS of the borrowers’ loan despite pull-out of stocks.

These are true for borrowers with legitimate loans but nevertheless were left at the mercy of the Input Suppliers from the time their loans were approved and POs served to IS and paid in full by QUEDANCOR.   Those who were allegedly made to sign the loan documents for a small amount of money,   are left indebted to QUEDANCOR in thousands of pesos incurred beyond their knowledge.
We suggest that the Management should revisit existing loan programs, vis-à-vis, its mandate, particularly the QSP.

The Management should assist borrowers in  filing estafa case against IS who have pulled-out the stocks but have not paid the account of the borrower with QUEDANCOR,  pursuant to the  Trust Receipt Agreement and the CGA entered into by the IS and the borrowers and QUEDANCOR.  Such action is not for the protection of the borrowers alone but also of QUEDANCOR.

Likewise, the Management should adhere to the “Truth in Lending Act” whenever applicable.

According to Management, the costs charged to the borrowers are beyond Management’s discretion to alter, as these are the lowest rates it can provide considering the lack of appropriation by the National Government.  The 14% interest and 3% service fee are charges exacted by the corporation in order to sustain its viability considering the high cost of money it incurs as all of its funds are sourced from the commercial market.  Likewise, GRT, insurance and documentary stamp are expenses paid to the National Government and beyond the control of management.  Notarial fee under the guidelines is fixed at P100.

Under the peculiar program of QUEDANCOR, the obligation is transferred or shifted to the IS upon pull-out of the borrower’s stocks which is specifically specified in the CGA (Article A.1 Item A.6) thus the IS is statutorily obliged to pay the loan of the borrower.

We countered that rates were taken and confirmed from district offices.  There may be different interpretations of the guidelines.  Notarial fee charged to borrowers under the GMA-Cares with SRT is P100 per document-Acknowledgment and P100 per document-Jurat.  Nevertheless, the emphasis is on the financial burden it gives to the borrower.  The statement that the cost is shifted or transferred to the IS is not absolute.  It is conditional.  If there is assumption of credit and eventual payment upon pull-out by the IS, the costs are shifted or absorbed by the IS, otherwise, it remains with the borrower as he remained indebted to QUEDANCOR. 
6. The QUEDANCOR is performing quasi-banking functions without prior authority from the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), an indispensable requirement of Section 6 of RA 8791, the General Banking Law of 2000.

This is a reiteration of our last year’s audit observation treating on the matter in the light of the recent opinion from the Supervision and Examination Department IV, BSP contained in its letter dated 24 April 2006.  It says, among others, and we quote:

“x x x.  Although QUEDANCOR was organized as a government financial institution, there is nothing in its charter (R.A. 7393) that authorizes it to perform quasi-banking functions.  The powers and purposes of the Corporation under Section 11 (a) (to establish a credit-support mechanism for the benefit of farmers, fishermen, rural workers, cooperatives, retailers, wholesalers and primary processors of agricultural and aquatic commodities) can be attained and accomplished without necessarily engaging in quasi-banking functions.”

The foregoing was already communicated to QUEDANCOR in a letter of the Supervision and Examination Division III, BSP dated 29 September 2003, copy attached – Annex C, which also states that QUEDANCOR does not qualify as a quasi-bank as defined under R.A. 8791 and should not perform as such.  (Underscoring supplied for emphasis)
To sum it all, the Opinion clarifies that:

· QUEDANCOR has no authority to engage in quasi-banking functions.  Its charter does not provide for it.

· OGCC Opinion No. 133, Series of 2002 dated 6 June 2002 which states that the proposed borrowing and lending activities of QUEDANCOR may be considered quasi-banking functions does not classify QUEDANCOR as a quasi-bank.  The same Opinion quoted Section 6 of  R.A. No. 8791, acknowledging the indispensable requisite of prior BSP approval for persons or entities to engage in quasi-banking functions.  (1st par., page 2 of BSP letter)
· QUEDANCOR is not subject to BSP supervision under special law. (2nd par. page 2, BSP letter)
· OGCC Opinion No. 083, Series of 2001 dated 16 May 2001 categorically stated that QUEDANCOR is classified as a Non-bank Government Financial Institution. (3rd par. page 2, BSP letter) 
In its penultimate paragraph, the BSP opined that, QUEDANCOR is not subject to the regulatory and supervisory powers of the BSP in the absence of an amendment of its charter either authorizing it to engage in quasi-banking functions or expressly subjecting it to BSP supervision.  (Underscoring ours)
In view of the foregoing, the borrowing and lending/relending  activities of QUEDANCOR contemplated not within the bounds of its charter are deemed ultra vires act of the Corporation, hence, may be unlawful.

We suggested that QUEDANCOR should seek for amendment of its charter, R.A. 7393.  Pending its amendment, QUEDANCOR should limit its operations within its corporate powers.

In reply,  Management explained by first making a distinction between OGCC Opinion No. 022 dated 05 February 2002 and OGCC Opinion No. 133 dated 06 June 2002.  They stated  that Opinion No. 022 is anchored on the question whether QUEDANCOR  can source additional funds  from the CAPITAL MARKET  through direct borrowings, rediscounting of promissory notes and/or issuance of bonds.  Relative thereto, the OGCC pointed out that the “proposal of QUEDANCOR to source additional funds through direct borrowings and rediscounting arrangements with BANKS AND/OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS falls within the ambit of the term co-financing arrangement as used in Sec. 18 (g) RA 7393.  On the other hand, Opinion No. 133 was sought in view of OGCC Opinion No. 022 with Management contemplating on extending the direct borrowings this time from OTHER NON-BANKING AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, COOPERATIVES, PRIVATE INDIVIDUALS AND GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES through the issuance of promissory notes.  As a result of which the OGCC issued its Opinion No. 133 stating that “since RA 7393 does not specify, nor limit the scope of co-financing arrangements QUEDANCOR may engage into, and considering that there is likewise nothing thereunder limiting the parties with whom QUEDANCOR may transact or contract, direct borrowings from sources such as non-banking or financial institutions, cooperatives, private individuals and government employees is allowed with the end in view of fulfilling the state policy x x x.  However the OGCC qualified that under this type of borrowing, referring to the proposed borrowing and lending activities from sources such as non-banking or financial institutions, cooperatives, private individuals and government employees, may be considered as “quasi-banking functions, as defined in Section 2 (D) (b) of the General Banking Act (RA 337 as amended) as follows:

“x x x borrowing funds for the borrowers’ own account, through the issuance, endorsement or acceptance of debt instrument of any kind other than deposits, or through the issuance of participations, certificate of assignments, or similar instruments with recourse, trust certificates, or of repurchase agreements from twenty or more lenders at any one time, for purposes of relending or purchasing or receivables and other obligations; x x x.” (emphasis supplied)

Furthermore, BSP letter dated 24 April 2006 answered in the negative our query on whether QUEDANCOR qualifies as one of the financial/credit institutions covered by BSP’s regulatory and supervisory powers and is consistent with the Corporation/s stand that a quasi-banking license is not necessary in the Corporation’s conduct of its operations.  This is anchored on the absence of a specific provision in QUEDANCOR’s  charter.

What remains as unsettled issue, according to Management, is whether QUEDANCOR is performing quasi-banking functions to necessitate amendment of its charter in light of the BSP Opinion.  

The management also answered in the negative citing OGCC Opinion No. 083, Series of 2001, dated 16 May  2001 and the BSP letter of 24 April 2006 which acknowledged QUEDANCOR as a NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTION.  As a non-bank financial institution, Management referred to Section 4101Q of the Manual of Regulations for Non-Bank Financial Institutions (BSP, 1993) as its basis in defining “quasi-banking functions” which functions consist of the following:

a.  Borrowing funds for the borrower’s  own account;

b.  Twenty (20) or more lenders; at any one time;

c.  Methods of borrowing: issuance, endorsement, or acceptance of debt instrument , of any kind, other than deposits, xxx.

It emphasized on the required number of lenders at any given time taking out its activities outside the definition of quasi-banking.  It submitted a certification on the number of its lenders, in particular those involved in the P5 billion Syndicated Loan, the P1.5 billion Multi-Series Bonds and the P1.0 billion Corporate Notes.

We believed that the distinction made is not necessary in this case.  OGCC Opinion No. 133 was sought for in furtherance of Opinion No. 022.  Management’s query on whether QUEDANCOR’s authority to source for additional funds through direct borrowings from other non-banking and financial institutions, cooperatives, private individuals and government employees fall within the purview of Opinion No. 022, Series of 2002, dated February 5, 2002 is clear from the words  of Opinion No. 133.   In reply, the OGCC did not distinguish.  In fact, it clarified in paragraph one, page two of the OGCC Opinion No. 133 that:

 “x x x.  Although the Charter does not specify the types of transactions covered by the term “co-financing arrangement”, neither does it limit or restrict the forms of financial arrangements QUEDANCOR may engage in so as to accomplish its mandate to establish a credit support mechanism.” 

In reply to the query, the OGCC reiterated in the third paragraph, page two of Opinion No. 133 that:

“ In the same light, we are of the opinion that since RA 7393 does not specify, nor limit the scope of co-financing arrangements QUEDANCOR may engage into, and considering that there is likewise nothing thereunder limiting the parties with whom QUEDANCOR may transact or contract, direct borrowings from sources such as non-banking or financial institutions, cooperatives, private individuals and government employees is allowed with the end in view of fulfilling the state policy and purpose of the law, x x x :”

When the law does not distinguish, we should not distinguish.

As to the required number of lenders, may be it was an oversight by Management considering that in addition to the P5 billion Syndicated Loan with two lenders, the P1.5 billion Multi Series Bonds with twelve investors and the P1.0 billion Corporate Notes with five investors, they have issued the Notes for Countryside Business (NCB) Notes with OGCC Opinion No. 022 dated February 5, 2002 as its basis, among others.  Issuance of the NCB notes is covered by Circular No. 178 Series of 2002 dated May 27, 2002.  As of December 31, 2005, there are one hundred fifty-six (156) holders on record. 

7.
The Cooperative Development Authority (CDA) funds released to QUEDANCOR by virtue of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) entered into by and between the CDA and QUEDANCOR were disbursed/utilized for purposes other than what were provided in the MOA.
The CDA released the following funds to QUEDANCOR:

· Thirty-Eight Million Eight Hundred Eighty Five Thousand (P38,885,000.00) Pesos on October 13, 2003 per JV 03-11-335 dated Nov. 30, 2003 and One Million Six Hundred Fifty Thousand (P1,650,000.00) Pesos on August 31, 2005 under OR No. 0007612 to finance viable agri-fishery projects and other business of cooperatives pursuant to  a  MOA between CDA and QUEDANCOR signed on Aug. 28, 2003.

· Seven Hundred Thousand (P700,000.00) Pesos on January 4, 2005 under OR No. 194990  to finance promotional activities of the QUEDANCOR-CDA Cooperative Lending Program per MOA dated December 15, 2004. 

· Five Hundred Thousand (P500,000.00) Pesos on January 4,  2005    under     OR No.    194991       released by CDA in compliance with the MOA     between        CDA,      National        Livelihood Support Fund (NLSF), QUEDANCOR, Agricultural Credit and Policy Council (ACPC) and Strategic Investment  and Development Corporation (SIDCOR). 

Audit of the above funds disclosed the following deficiencies:

a.  P40.535 Million Fund

The Fund was not used to finance viable agri-fishery projects and other business of cooperatives as provided in the MOA. Instead, it was invested in Treasury Bills at an average rate of 6.20%. As of December 31, 2005, the balance of Investment in Government Securities is  P19,782,482.42. 

Various Funds were transferred from LBP – CDA to QUEDANCOR COF, GMA Cares and Equity in the amount of P90,000.00, P26,860,000.00 and P395,066.86, respectively (Schedule C).  Such transfers were likewise not provided in the MOA.

Total expenses incurred from October 2003 to December 2005 in connection with the MOA amounted to P1,486,738.53 (Schedule D) which consisted of the following:

Honorarium


P   729,000.00

Representation Allowance           364,404.00

TEV



      158,373.31

Other Expenses
                  233,861.22

Total



P 1,486,738.53

===========

Forty-nine percent (49%) of the expenses represents honorarium of the members of the   Project Management Committee (PMC), payment of which cannot be allowed under DBM Circular No. 75 issued in 1995 for the same has already been superseded by Budget Circular No. 2003-5 dated September 26, 2003. Neither can they claim that the PMC falls under Sec. 4.3 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 inasmuch as it applies to personnel who are neither paid salaries nor per diems but compensated in the form of honoraria as provided by law, rules and regulations. The QUEDANCOR personnel   who are members of the PMC are being paid their salaries. 

Payment of Representation Allowance in the total amount of P364,404 has no legal basis. It is not provided in the MOA or even if the same is provided for in the MOA, the same is not allowed in view of National Compensation Circular No. 67-B dated August 8, 2002 which states that “In all cases, no one shall be allowed to collect RATA from more than one source”.  More so, the QUEDANCOR officers have fixed RATA charged to the Operating Fund.
b.  P700,000 Fund

The Fund was deposited in the existing QUEDANCOR-CDA account last January 5, 2005 but was transferred to LBP-QUEDANCOR Equity account on February 7, 2005 and on the same date the fund was invested in LBP-High Yield Savings Account at 5.25%. The transfer was not provided in the MOA between CDA and QUEDANCOR.

c. P500,000 Fund

 The Fund was deposited in the existing QUEDANCOR-CDA account last January 5, 2005 but was transferred to LBP-QUEDANCOR Equity account on February 7, 2005 and on the same date the fund was invested in LBP-High Yield Savings Account at 5.25%. Said transfer was not in accordance with Section II par 2.1 of  the MOA between CDA, NLSF, QUEDANCOR, ACPC and SIDCOR which states that “ x x x The Trust Fund shall be deposited/invested with the Land Bank of the Philippines or any government financial institution which offers the highest interest yield, under a Trust Agreement.” 

We recommend that Management should strictly comply with the provisions of the MOA between CDA and QUEDANCOR and other laws, rules and regulations.

The amount disbursed not in accordance with the MOA and other pertinent laws, rules and regulations should be refunded.

According to Management, the funds were released to the District Offices corresponding to the amount of loan/requested amount for transfer.  Unreleased funds or balance of the fund are invested in T-bills to maximize earnings.  The amount released to district offices were transferred to GMA-Cares and amount invested in T-bills to LBP Equity account.

As to payment of honorarium, the Management insisted that its basis is paragraph 4.3 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 dated September 26, 2003.  They also furnished us a copy of the letter of the Undersecretary of the DBM dated April 21, 2006 (Annex D), which according to them clarified/interpreted in its favor, hence, settled the issue. 

To this, we do not concur.  On the contrary, the letter emphasized the intent of the provision of the Circular, that is, members of the collegial body receiving salary or per diem from the regular agency/corporation to which they are employed should not be paid honorarium.

As regard the payment of RATA without legal basis,  Management claimed that these are actual expenses incurred during meetings with various proponents and other related activities.  They also submitted a copy of the Supplemental MOA stating the authority to reimburse representation expenses incurred in relation to the Project. We countered that reimbursable RATA which are charged to MOOE still requires approval from the Office of the President or from the DBM.  However, management informed that it has stopped payment of RATA since June 2005 as part of its cost-cutting measures.

Considering that the payment of RATA has no legal basis, the same should be refunded by the QUEDANCOR officers concerned.

The P700,000 fund transferred to LBP-Equity account, for some reason, was placed in  LBP-High Yield Savings Account (HYSA) according to Management.  We disagree with this contention because the amount is intended for promotional activities pursuant to the MOA.
8.
The Five Million (P5,000,000) GMA-Corn Program Fund from the Department of Agriculture was utilized for purposes other than what were provided in the Memorandum of Agreement entered into by and between the DA and QUEDANCOR.

Audit of the Five Million Pesos (P5,000,000.00)  GMA Corn Program Fund  disclosed the following deficiencies:

A total amount of Three Million Nine Hundred Eighty Thousand Pesos (P3,980,000.00), details of which are shown below, was transferred from LBP – GMA Corn to QUEDANCOR Current Operating Fund to finance corporate expenses, viz:
DATE                             AMOUNT
6-30-03

P    750,000.00

8-13-03 

      250,000.00

9-02-03

   1,500,000.00

11-07-03                          1,480,000.00

P 3,980,000.00

============

Such transfers were not provided in the MOA. Expenses in the total amount of P70,700.00 (Schedule E) representing honorarium of the members of the Oversight Committee on Corn Logistical Program, were charged to the Project Fund.  DBM Circular No. 75 issued in 1995 which was made the basis for payment of the honorarium was already superseded by Budget Circular No. 2003-5 dated September 26, 2003, hence, payment made pursuant thereto are found disallowable.  Also, the members cannot claim that the Oversight Committee falls under Sec. 4.3 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 inasmuch as it applies to personnel who are neither paid salaries nor per diems but compensated in the form of honoraria as provided by law, rules and regulations. The personnel of the   QUEDANCOR who are members of the Committee are being paid their salaries. 

Gas and Oil and Advertising Expenses included in the Schedule of Disbursements for GMA Corn Program totaling to P1,040,037.02 were gasoline and  oil,  and advertising expenses incurred in the operation and promotion of the Agency and not particularly for the Corn Program. Further, wages of Job Order employees amounting to P696,849.79 were adjusted/charged to GMA Corn account, however verification of the allotment and obligation slips (ALOBS) showed that no amount was allotted to wages/salaries. 

The Management commented that the GMA-Corn program, though there has been no exclusive road show/promotion for corn, all QUEDANCOR promotional materials includes GMA Corn program as one of the programs catered to and prioritized by the corporation.  Likewise, gasoline and oil expenses can hardly be tagged as expense for a particular program since there is no direct costing on this.  The basis of computing such expense is through pro-rating from the different expense budget and administrative cost incurred with other programs such as GPEP, PAFDAF and others.  The amount for administrative cost shouldered by DA was computed based on its analysis of more or less the amount of gas and oil the GMA-Corn Program needed.

The Management should strictly comply with the provisions of the subject MOA between the DA and the QUEDANCOR and other laws, rules and regulations, and that the amount disbursed not in accordance with the MOA and other pertinent laws, rules and regulations should be refunded to the Project Fund.

9.
Total disbursements of P4,929,587.50 was paid for honoraria by  the QUEDANCOR for the period January-December 2005, contrary to the provision of Section 4 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 dated September 26, 2003.

Section 4 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 (Prescribing Guidelines on the Grant of Honoraria to Government Personnel for FY 2003 and Onwards) provides the following:

“Heads of entities are authorized to use their respective appropriation for the    payment of honoraria only to the following:

a.) Teaching personnel of the Department of Education, Commission on Higher Education, Technical Education and Skills Development Authority, State Universities and Colleges and other educational institutions engaged in actual classroom teaching whose teaching load is outside of the regular office hours and/or in excess of the regular load;

   b.) Those who act as lecturers, resource persons, coordinators and facilitators in seminars, training programs and other similar activities in training institutions; including those conducted by entities for their officials and employees; and

   c.) Chairs and members of Commissions/Boards Councils and other similar entities which are hereinafter referred to as collegial body including the personnel thereof, who are neither paid salaries nor per diems but compensated in the form of honoraria as provided by law, rules and regulations. 

Further, Section 9 of the said Circular provides that:

“Inasmuch as there is no more legal basis to grant honoraria to those not specifically mentioned in said Section 42 of the 2003 GAA, National Compensation Circular No. 75 dated March 1, 1995 is hereby rescinded and the provisions of Circulars which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Circular are deemed amended, repealed and superseded accordingly.”

Despite previous year’s recommendation to comply strictly with the foregoing provisions of Budget Circular No. 2003-5, management still continues to pay honorarium to members of the different committees of the Corporation, including officials of government agencies under the Department of Agriculture, at even higher rates.  

Review  of disbursement vouchers/general payrolls as of December 2005 disclosed that a total of P4,929,587.50 was  paid   for   honorarium   alone   or an increase of P2,580,521.75 from that of  last year.         

The members of the committees cannot claim that they fall under Section 4.3 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 inasmuch as it applies to personnel who are neither paid salaries nor per diems but compensated in the form of honoraria as provided by law, rules and regulations.  The personnel of the QUEDANCOR who are members of the Committees are being paid their salaries.

We strictly recommend that Management comply with the provisions of Budget Circular  No. 2003-5,  and to refund/cause the refund of the amount paid for  honorarium without legal basis.

The Management explained that the phrase “who are neither paid salaries nor per diems but compensated in the form of honoraria as provided by law, rules and regulations” refers to “personnel of the Commission/Boards Councils”.  The phrase simply means that the collegial body can have personnel who are neither paid salaries nor per diem as complementary staff in support of the collegial body composed of government personnel.  To interpret the above-quoted phrase as applicable to all government personnel who are members of the collegial body would render the whole provision meaningless.  At the outset, it must be noted that the subject matter of Budget Circular No. 2003-5 is “Prescribing on the Grant of Honoraria to Government Personnel for FY 2003 and Onwards.”

We maintain our stand that the grant of honorarium is contrary to the provision of Paragraph 4.3 of Budget Circular No. 2003-5.  Moreover, the subject item of expenditure was not among those included in the Corporate Operating Budget for CY 2005 approved by the DBM.
10.
Payment of Representation and Transportation Allowances (RATA) to officials and employees of QUEDANCOR for the period January-December 2005 amounting to P1,916,395 is not authorized by the DBM.

Section 45(g) of the General Appropriations Act for CY 2005 states that:

“The following officials and those of equivalent rank as may be determined by the DBM, while in the actual performance of their respective functions, are hereby granted monthly commutable representation and transportation allowances payable from the programmed appropriations provided for their respective offices not exceeding the rates indicated below, which shall apply to each type of allowance:

(g) At P3,000 for Chief of Divisions, identified as such in the Personal Services Itemization and Plantilla of Personnel.”

Review of disbursement vouchers/general payrolls for payment of RATA for CY ended December 31, 2005 disclosed that despite the disallowance of the DBM as reflected in the approved Corporate Operating Budget for CY 2005, the Agency granted said allowances to its officers and employees who are not authorized per Approved Staffing and Details of Other Compensation of Permanent Positions for CY 2005.  

The Management should observe its approved budget and plantilla  in disbursing government funds. The management was required to render explanation/justification why the recipients and the concerned officials             who approved the payment of  such unauthorized disbursements should not be held accountable/liable.

Management sought reconsideration as to why the recipients and the concerned officials who approved the payment of RATA to designated officers performing executive functions in acting capacities should not be held accountable, for the following reasons:

-  The creation/upgrading of divisions into departments and the reorganization of various corporate operating units are duly approved by the QUEDANCOR Governing Board and subsequently submitted to the Department of Budget and Management (DBM) consistent with Section 28 of RA 7393.  All these modifications are incorporated in our Rationalization Program in accordance with EO 366.

- Concerned officers were designated to   perform functions of higher responsibility, that of either division chiefs/AVPs, department heads/VPs or cluster heads/SVPs.  Such designation is covered by Special Orders signed by the President and CEO.

-  While it may be true that in the absence of duly approved DBM Plantilla Positions for the above cited positions the issuance of appointment papers could not be made possible including the adjustment in basic pay, the grant of monthly commutable representation and transportation allowances is normally being allowed to executives performing functions appurtenant to their designations through actual reimbursement with proof of payment (OR/Invoices) attached to disbursement vouchers and are charged to MOOE.  Such practice is consistent with existing DBM and CSC policies.

In reply to the foregoing, we stated that the approval of the QUEDANCOR Governing Board is not sufficient basis for payment of the RATA.  Section 28 of RA 7393 is clear.  It requires consultation with the Civil Service Commission and should be in accordance with Section 14, Specific Duties and Powers of the Governing Board, specifically paragraphs (e) and (f) thereof, which provides that:
(e) Rationalize the rates of salaries, wages, allowances, per diems, consultant’s fees, overtime pay and other forms of compensation, including gratuities and fringe benefits, which shall be determined in accordance with the position  classification and compensation scheme or policy formulated under existing laws, rules and regulations and in consultation with the Civil Service Commission and the Department of Budget and Management without prejudice to the compensation, fringe benefits and gratuities enjoyed by or provided for incumbent personnel at the effectivity of  this Act.

 (f)
Approve, upon the recommendation of its President, the appointment of senior corporate officials in accordance with the pertinent provisions of the Civil Service Law, rules and regulations

As regard the reimbursable representation and transportation allowances,  we insisted that prior approval by the Office of the President or by the DBM is necessary pursuant to National Compensation Circular No. 67-B dated August 8, 2002 and Corporate Operating Budget for CY 2005 .

11. The Current Operating Fund (COF) book balance as of December 31, 2005 amounting to P75,064,821 is not supported with updated  monthly bank reconciliation statement (BRS) contrary to Sec. 74 of P.D. 1445.
The Schedule of Cash in Bank / Combo Account as of December 31, 2005 showed an ending book    balance of P75,064,821 compared to bank balance of P115,084,771 per bank statement of same date, or a huge discrepancy of           P40,019,950,  which cannot be validated due to non-preparation of monthly BRS.

Section 74 of P.D. 1445 requires that: 

“At the close of each month, depositories shall report to the Agency head, in such form as he may direct the condition of the Agency account standing in their books.  The head of the Agency shall see to it that a reconciliation is made between the balance shown in the reports and the balance found in the books of the Agency.”

Updated reconciliation of bank balance against book balance as required in the above provision of PD 1445 is necessary to prove correctness of both balances, without which renders the same doubtful. Further, accumulation of errors committed by the bank or by the agency cannot be prevented adding to the discrepancy between the balances. 

Management informed that to date, it has 400 bank accounts being reconciled at the Central Office, 267 of which are active accounts which are reconciled and updated on a quarterly basis.  However, reconciliation of the COF has not been completed since this account has the most number of transactions.  Nonetheless, the reconciliation shall be submitted not later than 15 June 2006.

The latest BRS for COF submitted to us last June 9, 2006 covers the period March, April and May 2005 only.
We recommend that Section 74 of PD 1445 be strictly implemented and complied with and to update preparation and submission of the BRS.  Corresponding adjusting entries should also be taken up in the books.

12.
Total loans availed by QUEDANCOR for the year 2005 amounting to P2.25 billion exceeded by P750 million the approved ceiling by the Monetary Board of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas of P1.5 billion.
Section 123 of RA 7653-The New Central Bank Act requires that:

“When the Government or any of its political subdivisions or instrumentalities, contemplates borrowing within the Philippines, the prior opinion of the Monetary Board shall likewise be requested in order that the Board may render opinion on the probable effects of the proposed operation on monetary aggregates, the price level and the balance payment.”

QUEDANCOR in its letter of October 2004 requested the Monetary Board’s opinion on the monetary aggregates and balance of payments of the proposed long-term borrowing or finance the Agency’s loan funding requirement of up to P2.85 billion to be arranged by the United Coconut Planters Bank (UCPB) and the Land Bank of the Philippines (LBP).

In reply, the Monetary Board issued MB Resolution No. 123 dated 27 January 2005, which states, among others, that:

“The Monetary Board encouraged QUEDANCOR to consider the views of the DOF that its borrowing be limited to P1.5 billion to help maintain its financial viability. In addition, the Monetary Board requested QUEDANCOR to submit post borrowing reports to the DOF (copy furnished the BSP) on the final terms of conditions (Annex E).
Verification disclosed that Management failed to comply with the above conditions. Total loans availed for the year amounted to P2,250,000,000 consisting of the following:

a. P1,500,000,000 Multi Series Bonds – 11.43% average interest rate; 75% (aggregate amount of the Bonds) Arrangers Fee; 25% (aggregate selling proceeds of the Bonds) Issue Management Fee; and P600,000 legal fees.

b. P750,000,000 Corporate Notes (journal voucher together with its supporting documents have not yet been submitted to this Office as of report date)

The total amount of loans availed of exceeded the MB ceiling by P750,000,000 and submission of post-borrowing requirements were not complied with.

Further, the proceeds of the loan were not fully utilized for the purpose it was intended for. Instead, it was invested in government securities, account number 9-73-333 for Multi Series Loan and 8-73-342 for Corporate Notes with an average interest rate of 6.5% per annum.

The Management informed that on top of the P1.5 Billion approved QUEDANCOR’s borrowings by the Monetary Board last February 2006, the BSP in its letter dated March 23, 2006 has allowed QUEDANCOR an additional       P1 Billion long-term borrowing which shall be arranged by the United Coconut Planters Bank (UCPB) and the First Metro Investment Bank.

Also, Management commented that the proceeds of the loan was disbursed and utilized in accordance with the intended purpose.  Meantime that the fund was untapped since they are still waiting for the fund requests from the different district offices nationwide, as a prudent fund handler, it temporarily  placed the fund in short-term government securities instead of depositing it in SA/CA where very minimal income is earned.  

We recommend that Management maximize the use of their funds. Investment in government securities with a book balance of P1,466,896,617 as of December 31, 2005 should be utilized first before they resorted to borrowings since the interest earned in government securities is much lower than the cost of borrowings.

We also suggest that Management adhere to the ceiling imposed by the Monetary Board.

May we emphasize that the clearance being required is for CY 2005 inasmuch as the loan was availed of during that year.  Anyway, we considered the contents of the Monetary Board’s letter of March 23, 2006.

May we also point out that short-term investments were not temporarily placed as claimed because it has been in the books for years based on our analysis of the account.

13.
The balance per book of the account Assigned PN Payable showed a net difference of P8,394,334 per audit due to the failure of management to effect/adjust reconciling items affecting the account.


QUEDANCOR funds are sourced partially from assignment of the borrowers’ promissory notes to participating banks. The account used is Assigned PN Payable.  Audit for this account disclosed the following:

a. The balance per book of the Assigned PN Payable do not reflect the true balance of the account, showing a net difference of P8,394,334 details of which are as follows:

Per Book   
 Per Audit
     Difference
EWB
   P23,653,641
         P24,875,315       P( 1,221,674)

LBP
   369,476,502
         355,748,183
    13,728,319

PVB
     21,265,953
           21,240,921                  25,032
UCPB
   147,575,889
         151,713,232
    ( 4,137,343)
Total       P561,971,985      P553,577,651          P8,394,334

===========      ===========          =========
The Accounts Payable Management Division (APMD) prepared an analysis of the above Assigned PN Payables and arrived at the same audited balance. The discrepancies noted represents reconciling items that were not taken up in the books. Per information gathered, the reconciling items were transmitted to the concerned Regional Offices but no action was taken.

b.   Proceeds from the assignment of promissory notes which were transferred to concerned district offices cannot be monitored properly.  Receipt of the fund is debited to the respective lenders’  account and then transferred to GMA Cares account. From the GMA Cares account, the fund is debited to the concerned district office bank account.  From then monitoring stops because the GMA Cares account is used not only for funds from Assigned PN but also for take up of proceeds from Rediscounting Venture, Syndicated Loan and other loans availed by the Agency.

We called Management’s attention to adjust the reconciling items affecting the account Assigned PN Payable on time, to account funds separately and monitor the same properly.

Management replied that the CRPD-APMD religiously transmitted and communicated their analysis on Assigned PN to the concerned Regional Offices to take up the necessary adjustment, however, some items were still not taken up in the books of the field offices.  It submitted JV No. 06-01-028 to 030 covering the adjustment/reconciliation of the Central Office.  We were also informed that it has coordinated with the regional and district offices to make the necessary adjustment at their ends.
We will further verify the said adjustments.
14. Casual/Probationary/Contractual employees hired   by   the QUEDANCOR exceeded by 220 the authorized number of positions/items per approved Plantilla by the Department of Budget and Management.  This resulted to increased Personal Services in an estimated amount of P43,672,866.

The Corporate Operating Budget for CY 2005 as approved by the Department of Budget and Management has allowed a total of 288 personnel only for casual/probationary positions for Central Office, National Capital Region, Regional Office Nos. I,V, VI, X and XI. 

Verification of the Approved Budget for Non-Plantilla Probationary/Casual Positions revealed that the items/positions presently being occupied by Casual/Probationary employees exceeded the positions/items authorized by the DBM, as follows:

No. of Positions   No. of Positions

Actually Hired         Per Plantilla      Variance    Amount
Central Office          182                            108                74       P11,705,258
NCR                          85                             15                 70          11,968,415
Region I                    54                              35                 19           4,057,793
V                   28                              17                 11           2,994,220
VI                  45                              24                 21           4,045,207
X                 101                              56                 45           7,810,657
XI                  13                              33                (20)          1,091,316
TOTAL                508                            288                220       P43,672,866  
Moreover, our previous audit finding is hereby reiterated that QUEDANCOR’s existing policy on the job order personnel whose hiring are merely covered by Special Orders (SOs) issued by its President and CEO  runs counter to Sec. 1(a.3 to a.5) of CSC Resolution No. 020790 dated June 5, 2002 which states as follows:
“The contract of services and job order are not covered by Civil Service Law, rules and regulations, but covered by Commission on Audit (COA) rules;

The employees involved in the contract or job order do not enjoy the benefits enjoyed by government employees, such as PERA, ACA and RATA.

Services rendered thereunder are not considered as government service.”

It is our view that Special Orders issued to the so-called Job Order personnel do not partake of the nature of valid appointments; their positions are not regular plantilla positions approved by the DBM and their services are not government service in contemplation of CSC Resolution No. 020790, which also requires under Section 5 thereof that:

“The contract of services, MOA or job order shall be submitted to the CSC Regional Office (CSCRO) having jurisdiction over the government agency for review of its stipulations within thirty (30) days from the execution and signing of the contract of services, MOA or job order which shall be the date indicated on the said instrument.”

Hence, we maintain our previous position that subject QUEDANCOR personnel are not entitled to receive and enjoy the benefits extended to regular government employees.  For CY 2005, these benefits and allowances amounted to P11,669,124.67, broken down as follows:

Central Office                                                   P   2,185,264.73

National Capital Region                                            544,919.96

Regional Office No.    1                                            737,104.90

3                                         1,958,480.12

5                                         1,315,476.23

6                                         1,181,668.79

 10                                         2,310,713.75

 11                                            331,586.30

 12                                         1,103,909.89

TOTAL                                                   P11,669,124.67

=============

We reiterate our recommendation that Management should comply with laws, rules and regulations in the conduct of its operations and should strictly comply with its approved budget and plantilla in disbursing government funds. Moreover, it should strictly observe Section 1(a) of CSC Resolution No. 020790 dated June 5, 2002.  Henceforth, allowances and other benefits of job order personnel and/or personnel whose hiring were merely covered by Special Order issued by the QUEDANCOR President and CEO should be stopped without prejudice to the results of the post audit of payrolls/vouchers.

The Management should also render justification/explanation why the concerned officials who approved the payment of such unauthorized disbursements should not be held liable.

Management justified the increased number of personnel hired on casual/probationary/contractual employees in the light of the expansion in QUEDANCOR’s operations which reached to P42 billion in terms of loan releases as of December 31, 2005.  According to them, the expansion was triggered by its commitment to accomplish their mandate and it is based on the provisions of Section 28 and Section 14 of R.A. 7393.

We disagree with the management comment mentioned above for reasons that the total resources of QUEDANCOR as of December 31, 2005 is only P14.5 billion and Receivables-Trade is only P7.5 billion.

Our recommendation that Management comply strictly with CSC, DBM and other existing rules and regulations is hereby reiterated.
15.
Verification of the Cash Flow Statement (CFS) as of December 31, 2005 with comparative figures for CY 2004, received by this Office on August 30, 2006, disclosed the following material discrepancies, among others:

A. Cash inflow and outflow from Financing Activities - Assignment of Promissory Notes (PNs):
The loan proceeds secured by assignment of PNs showed a net difference of P188,733,111.04 while total  payments has a net difference of  P264,795,781.47, between the  amounts presented in the CFS and as audited, as shown below:

                                  PROCEEDS          PAYMENTS

Per  CFS               P899,407,459.80   P705,852,504.95

Per Audit                 710,674,348.76      441,056,723.48

Overstatement    P188,733,111.04   P264,795,781.47

Please see Schedule F for details.

B. Cash transactions re: Short term Investment:

The movement of cash involving Short-term Investment was not accounted for.  The amount of P939,906,435.89 shown as Net Cash inflow from  Investment  is the net of all debits (Placements plus taxes and Trust Fees amounting to P11,136,599,211.45) and all credits (Termination plus         interest income amounting to P10,196,692,775.56).  The same amount of P939,906,435.89 is presented as cash outflow. 

Our verification showed that the total placements plus Taxes & Trust Fees is P10,941,219,217.37,   and total terminated/matured investments including  interest income is P10,035,770,164.23, broken down as follows:

Placement                 
 P10,929,516,971.16

Taxes                         
            8,892,908.88

Trust Fees                              2,809,337.33

Per Audit                        10,941,219,217.37
Per CFS                         11,136,599,211.45

Overstatement            P    195,379,994.08

================

Maturity                   
  P 9,990,996,368.92

Interest Income                     44,773,795.31
Per Audit                        10,035,770,164.23

Per CFS                         10,196,692,775.56

Overstatement             P   160,922,611.33

================
Please see Schedule G for details.

C.   Cash inflow from Financing Activities:

Cash inflow from borrowings showed the total amount of principal loans and not the net cash proceeds actually received during the year, to wit:

Cash Inflow from Long Term Borrowings

Per CFS
         Per Audit       Overstatement
Corporate Notes  
 P   750,000,000     P 742,500,000      P 7,500,000

Multi Series Bonds 
  1,500,000,000       1,484,400,000       15,600,000

T o t a l                 
P2,250,000,000    P2,226,900,000     P23,100,000
======================================
D.  Other items appearing in the submitted working papers for the Head Office Cash Flow Statement are not supported with schedules from which to substantiate the amounts, as follows, among others:

a) Amount deducted from total collection of Receivables in 2005
P13,422,352.35

b) Accrued income 





 343,622,829.96

c) Accrued Expenses





 190,409,743.86

d) Payment of LT borrowings reclassified to AP   


   75,000,000.00

e) Amount deducted from Guarantee Payments  


     6,020,191.11

f) Adjustment to Purchases of Inventory                    

     6,633,495.02

As a result of the foregoing deficiencies mentioned above, the ending balance of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is understated by P87,420,053.13, casting doubt on the reliability of the balance of the cash and cash equivalents account shown in the Balance Sheet.  The understatement is computed as follows:

	Cash and Cash Equivalents, End per Statement of Cash Flows
	
	
	P
	2,087,551,255.00

	Add/(Deduct):
	
	
	
	

	a.)
	Overstatement of Loan Proceeds
	P
	188,733,111.04
	
	

	b.)
	Overstatement of Loan Payments
	
	(264,795,781.47)
	
	

	c.)
	Overstatement of Placement on Short Term Investment
	
	(195,379,994.08)
	
	

	d.)
	Overstatement on Maturity on Short Term Investment
	
	160,922,611.33
	
	

	e.)
	Overstatement of Proceeds from Long Term Borrowings
	
	23,100,000.00
	
	

	
	Net Understatement 
	
	
	
	(87,420,053.18)

	Cash and Cash Equivalents, End per Audit
	
	
	P
	2,174,971,308.18


In this connection, the attention of management is invited to Section 73 of the Manual on NGAS-National and Section 41 of PD 1445 which states that:

Section 73, NGAS Manual:

“Responsibility for the fair presentation and reliability of financial statements rests with the management of the reporting agency.  This responsibility is discharged by applying generally accepted state accounting principles that are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, by maintaining effective system of internal control and adhering to the chart of accounts prescribed by the Commission on Audit.”

Section 41 (2) and (3), PD 1445:

“(1) X x x 
“(2)To carry out the purposes of this section, the chief accountant or the official in charge of keeping the accounts of a government agency shall submit to the Commission year-end trial balances and such other supporting or subsidiary statements as may be required by the Commission not later than the fourteenth day of February. Trial balances returned by the Commission for revision due to non-compliance with accounting rules and regulations, shall be resubmitted within three days after the date of receipt by the official concerned.”

“(3)Failure on the part of any official or employee to comply with the provisions of the immediately preceding paragraph shall cause the automatic suspension of the payment of his salary and other emoluments until he shall have complied therewith.  The violation of these provisions for at least three times shall subject the offender to administrative disciplinary action.”
The management should observe the provisions of the aforementioned sections of the NGAS Manual and PD 1445.

As of this writing, management has not yet submitted its comment on this audit observation despite the lapse of time prescribed in Section 41 (2) of PD 1445.
* Costing based on BAI data
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